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Schmal"", Craig R SES (US) 

From: 
Sent: 

Darcy. Jo-Ellen HON (US) 
Fnday, April 03, 2015 5:13 PM 

To: 
Cc: 

Bostick, Thomas P l TG USARMY HQOA aCE (US); Jonn peabody: Steven Stockton 
David R SES HOO2 Cooper; Jennifer A HOO2 Moyer; Jennifer Grear; Schmauder, Craig R 
SES (US); Smith, Char1es R CIV (US); lee, let M CIV (US); Kelley, MOira l CIV (US): 

Subject: 
Clean Water Act rule 

CategorlilS: Important 

> 
;> LTG Bostick and the Corps Team, 
> 
> We have reached yet another milestone in our journey towards 
:> publishing a revised ru le Intended to bring additional cla rity to the 
> phrase "waters of the United St2lte5." as used in the Clean Water Act. 
> After recent consultation with the EPA Administrator and other senior 
::> Administ ration EPA is transmitting the draft final rule and preamble to OMS this evening. 
:> The interagency review process will start now. As I said in my 3 
> October 
> 2013 memo to you Chief, ·[wle would not have reached this point had It 
> not been fo r the hard work and dedication of the Corps This Is 
> absolutely true again today. I anticipate the interagency review 
> process will be thorough and dynamic, as this rule is important to the 
> President and the entire Administration. Il rema ins critical, now more 
> than f>ver, for the Army, the Corps, and EPA to speak with onf> voice regardin8 the rule. 
> Ukewise, It Is essential for everyone Involved to honor the 
> confidential and pre-de<isional nature of the documents throughout t he 
> e ntire inte ragency review process. All communications with EPA, OMB, 
> Congress, and the media during the interagency review process must 
> come from my offi ce. I will however continue to reach out to the Corps 
> team for technical, legal, and policy Input. Please accept my sincele 
> and heartfelt appredation for your professionalism and expertise t hat 
> have allowed us to reach this significant milestone. 1 can't thank you e no ugh. 
> 
> Jo-Ellen 
> 
> 
> Respectfully, 
> 
> Cra ig R. Schmaudcr, SES 
> Deputy Ge neral Coonsel 
> Installations, Environment & Civil Works 
> 
> NOnCE: This may contain information protected by the 
> attorney-cllent, attorney work-product, deliberative-process, or other 
> privilege. Do not disseminate without the approval of the Office of 
> the General Counsel, DEpanment of the Army. If you have received this 
> message in error, please notify the sender immediately by e mail or 
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Lance Wood, US Army Corps of Engineers



Laity, Jim 

From: 
Sent: 
To: . 
Subject : 
Attachments: 

Laity, Jim 
Thursday, December 12, 201 3 7:19 PM 
Peck, Gregory; Schmauder, Craig R SES (US) (  
WOTUS 
Corps OHWM Presentation (Mar 2013L 48649661 . .1 -c.pdf 

Let's talk tomorrow (Friday) to see where we are and next steps. Let me know a time that works for both of you. 

A few more stray concerns for you to think about, these should not be show stoppers. 

1) I understand that the Connectivity Report already went through one round of independent peer review and 
revision before being submitted to the SAB. I think it is important that we make the results of this peer review 
available to the public as part of the administrative record for the NPRM when it is published to counter the 
charge, currently circulating, including in several Congressional letters we have received, that we are letting the 
rule get ahead of the science, and should not propose the rule until the SA8 review is complete. If we can show 
that the Report already went through a round of peer review (which was hopefully favorable) and was already 
revised once to address peer review comments, this will help a lot to address this concern. Please let me know 
asap if you see any problem with doing this. Also, can I see a copy of the first peer review report asap? 

2) Based on the leaked draft, a lot of stakeholders are complaining that ihe rules reads like substantive decisions 
have already been made, and inCludes no "alternatives" as required by EO 12866. This is a fair concern. I think 
we can address by adding targeted requests for comment (and perhaps offer alternatives) in each section of the 
rule. For example, in the adjacency discussion, we could propose the 100 year floodplain, but specifically 
request comment on other intervals. We could also request comment on whether the definition should specify 
only the riparian zone, only the floodplain, or both (as proposed). This is only an example. As you revise the 
rule, please think about other margins where you can reasonably request comment on specific alternatives. 

3) The issues of " breaks" in tributaries not severing jurisdiction is causing a lot of heartburn and uncertainty. Can 
we be more specific about the circumstances where this applies. For example, a manmade break that conveys 
water from the upper to the lower part of a natural tributary through a pipe, culvert or similar structure should 
not sever jurisdiction. Perhaps this is enough, or if there are other specific situations, let's identify them 
explicitly. 

4) Concern has been raised about uncertainty in the delineation of the OHWM, including a Corps powerpolnt on 
this topic being provided (attaChed). It would be great if we can provide more clarity here. 

Let's talk tomorrow. Jim 
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Laity. Jim 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Laity, Jim 
Wednesday, December 11, 2013 3:39 PM 
Mancini, Dominic J. 
FW: OIRA comments 
Waters of the US comments .docx 

FYI , Here are the WOTUS comments I sent Friday. No response yet 

From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Friday, December 06, 2013 6:44 PM 
To: 'Peck, Gregory'; Schmauder, Craig R SES (US) 
Subject: OIRA comments 
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Interagency Working Cqmments on Draft Language ull der E012866 and 
13563 Interagency Review. Subject to Further Policy Review. 

WOTUS NPRM: Suggested Revisions 

The dra ft proposed rule as submitted takes a huge step forward in resolving regulatory uncertainty 
relative to the status quo. The agencies are to be cOlllmended for their prol:I'ess to date in this respect. 
However, there would be substantial benefit to all stakeholders in clarifying further which waters are 
jurisdictional and which are not. With this consideration in mind, OIRA staff offer the following 
suggestions. 

Isolated Waters: The proposed rule would continue to require a case-by- case demonstration of a 
significant nexus to navigable or interstate waters to assert jurisdiction over isolated waters. Unlike 
either the 2008 or 2011 guidance, the proposed rule would also allow some grouping of isolated waters 
for determining significance, and offers general criteria for such grouping. However, there wou ld stili be 
substantial regulatory uncertainty regarding which isolated waters are jurisdictional and which are not. 

OIRA staff recommends that the agencies identify specific categories of isolated waters, based on the 
science outlined in the Connectivity Report, that are categorically jurisdictional, and then state in 
regulatory text that the remaining isolated, non-navigable, intrastate waters are not jurisdictional. The 
goal would be to eliminate case-by-case determinations from the rule . Based on our reading of the 
report, Prairie Potholes and Carolina Bays are two categories for which strong scientific evidence exists 
of a categorical significant nexus to navigable and interstate waters. We would be open to discussing 
with agency staff add itional categories that should also be deemed categorical ly jurisdictional, based on 
the peer-reviewed science summarized in the Connectivity Report. We would also support a robust 
request for comment in the preamble on 1) whether it is appropriate to completely eliminate case-by-
case determinations as proposed, and 2) whether there are other well -defined categories of isolated 
waters that should also be deemed categorically jurisdictional. 

Ditches: The proposed rule categorically excludes manmade ditches that are excavated wholly in 
uplands, provided they only have ephemeral flow. In practice, however, it is often difficult to distinguish 
between ephemeral and intermittent flow in manmade ditches excavated wholly in uploads. The 
resulting uncertainty is a source of significant concern to some stakeholder, particularly state and local 
transportation departments that must construct and maintain roaqside drainage ditches. 

OIRA staff recommends that the draft rule exclude ditches excavated wholly in uplands provided they 
have only ephemeral or intermittent flow. This would address substantial stakeholder concerns and 
increase clarity and ease of implementation. We believe it would have minimal adverse impacts on 
protection of high-value aquatic resources. 

Definition ofAdjacencv: The rule proposes a revised definition of adjacency that is more precise and 
science-based than the existing regulatory definition. However, the proposed definition retains 
significant ambiguity, which will make it difficult for field staff to implement and possibly invite legal 
challenge. In particular, the term adjacent now includes waters with a surface or shallow sub-surface 
connection to a jurisdictional water, and waters that are in the riparian zone or floodplain of a 
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Interagency Working Comments on Draft Language under E012866 and 
13563 Interagency Review. Subject to Further Policy Review. 

jurisdictional water. However, the draft rule does not specify what frequency of flood would be used to 
determine the floodplain. 

OIRA staff recommends that J particular flood frequ ,' "cy be identified in thl" rule text to determinc· the 
floodplain. A primary consideration in choosing the appropriate frequency should be the existence of 
comprehensive maps delineating floodplains for the frequency chosen. In addition, this provision could 
serve as a workable proxy for delimiting waters that serve an important floodwater retention function 
during more frequent precipitation events, and thus demonstrate a significant nexus to downstream 
navigable and interstate waters. Based on both of these considerations, we recommend that the rule 
specify the lOO-year floodplain, but we are open to suggestion of an alternate interval if it better reflects 
these considerations. 

Regulatory Flexibility Act Compliance: The preamble states that the proposed rule will not have a 
significant impact on a substantial number of small entities (SISNOE) because it does not "directly" 
regulate any small entity (or anybody else). Rather it simple clarifies the extent of Clean Water Act 
jurisdiction. SBA does not agree. They believe the rule expands jurisdiction relative to the status quo 
and that small entities discharging into newly jurisdictional waters will experience a "direct" regulatory 
impact that at least requires substantive analysis under the RFA to determine if it is significant. 

OIRA staff notes that EPA has already convened a "SBREFA-like" outreach meeting to small entity 
representatives to solicit input on ways to minimize adverse impacts to small entities as well as on the 
other rule-related questions identified in the Regulatory Flexibility Act. We recommend that EPA provide 
a draft repo rt of this outreach effort, including recommendations to the Administrator, to OIRA and SBA 
for comment as part the interagency review process. The goal would be to produce a consensus version 
of the report to be included in the administrative record for the proposed rule. The proposed rule 
would also make c1earlhat this is a "voluntary" outreach effort on the part of EPA which is not judicially 
reviewable under SBREFA, and wou ld be accompanied by a formal certification of no SISNOSE. 

Permitting Exemptions: The proposed rule emphasizes in the preamble that existing activity-specific 
permitting exemptions will remain unchanged by the rule. In practice, these exemptions address many 
of the concerns raised by various regulated entities by providing that certain activities (eg, return flows 
from irrigated agriculture and routine maintenance of roadside drainage ditches) do not require a CWA 
permit, even If the water in question is jurisdictional. However, USDA has suggested that EPA craft a 
broader exemption for "normal farming, silvicultural, and ranching activities" and include it as part of 
this rule. 

OIRA staff recommends that the agencies work with USDA and OIRA to craft a parallel proposed rule or 
guidance document that clarifies the application of the existing permitting exemption for normal 
farming, silvicultural, and ranching activities. This parallel document would be released concurrently 
with the proposed rule. OIRA staff stand ready to facilitate expedited review of such a rule or guidance 
document. We are wi lling to consider waiving formal interagency review if warranted. 
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
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 Draft Guidance on Identifying Waters Protected by the Clean Water Act  

This draft guidance clarifies how the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)*i  and the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (the Corps)ii will identify waters protected by the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act Amendments of 19721 (Clean Water Act or CWA or Act) and implement 
the Supreme Court’s decisions concerning the extent of waters covered by the Act (Solid Waste 
Agency of Northern Cook County v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (SWANCC)2 and Rapanos v. 
United States (Rapanos)3). This document clarifies how the EPA and the Corps understand 
existing requirements of the CWA and the agencies' implementing regulations in light of 
SWANCC and Rapanos and provides guidance to agency field staff in making determinations 
about whether waters are protected by the CWA. 

This draft guidance document is intended to describe for agency field staff the agencies’ 
current understandings; it is not a rule, and hence it is not binding and lacks the force of law.  
Once finalized, this guidance will supersede existing guidance to field staff issued in 2003 and 
2008 on the scope of “waters of the United States” (also “waters of the U.S.”) subject to CWA 
programs.iii   Although guidance does not have the force of law, it is frequently used by Federal 
agencies to explain and clarify their understandings of existing requirements.  In this case, the 
agencies believe that field staff across the country will benefit from new guidance that is 
informed by lessons learned since 2008 and that reflects the agencies’ understandings with 
respect to CWA jurisdiction, consistent with Supreme Court decisions and existing agency 
regulations. Each jurisdictional determination, however, will be made on a case-by-case basis 
considering the facts and circumstances of the case and consistent with applicable statutes, 
regulations, and case law. 

After receiving and taking account of public comments on this document, EPA and the 
Corps expect to finalize it and to undertake rulemaking consistent with the Administrative 
Procedure Act. This process is expected to start with a proposed rule, to clarify further via 
regulation the extent of Clean Water Act jurisdiction, consistent with the Court's decisions.  EPA 
and the Corps decided to begin this process with draft, nonbinding guidance in order to clarify 
their existing understandings while also considering and receiving the benefit of public 
comments. 

Congress enacted the Clean Water Act “to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, 
and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters,” and this guidance will help the agencies 
implement specific provisions of the Act to achieve this objective.4  The CWA has a number of 
programs designed to protect and restore the Nation's waters.  Together, these programs provide 
effective protection from pollution for waterbodies across the country, including waters that 

* To increase clarity of this document, endnotes that primarily provide citations will be indicated with Arabic 

numerals, and footnotes that provide additional substantive information will be indicated with Roman numerals. 

i EPA Regions will use this guidance to oversee and implement programs under the Clean Water Act, including 

those under sections 303, 311, 401, 402 and 404, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1313, 1321, 1341, 1342 and 1344.  (See endnote 1 

for an explanation of the relevant history of the Clean Water Act.)

ii Corps Districts will utilize this guidance to implement Clean Water Act section 404, 33 U.S.C. § 1344. 

iii Specifically, this memorandum supersedes the “Joint Memorandum” providing clarifying guidance on SWANCC,
 
dated January 15, 2003 (68 Fed. Reg. 1991, 1995), and “Clean Water Act Jurisdiction Following the U.S. Supreme 

Court’s Decision in Rapanos v. United States & Carabell v. United States,” dated December 2, 2008. 




 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

supply drinking water, filter pollutants, provide water for irrigation, and support hunting and 
fishing, outdoor recreation, and tourism.   

The Clean Water Act, however, applies only to waters that are “waters of the United 
States.”  This draft guidance clarifies how EPA and the Corps will identify waters to be protected 
under the Act consistent with the statute, regulations, Supreme Court caselaw, relevant science 
related to aquatic ecosystems, and the agencies' field experience. As noted above, this guidance, 
once finalized, will supersede previously issued guidance on the scope of “waters of the United 
States” (also “waters of the U.S.”) subject to CWA programs.  However, it is not the agencies’ 
intention that previously issued jurisdictional determinations be re-opened as a result of this 
guidance. 

The U.S. Supreme Court has addressed the scope of waters of the United States protected 
by the CWA in three cases.  In United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc. (474 U.S. 121 
(1985)), the Supreme Court held that wetlands adjacent to a traditional navigable water were 
properly considered to be “waters of the United States.”  In SWANCC, the Court addressed the 
question of CWA jurisdiction over isolated, non-navigable, intrastate ponds, and concluded that 
CWA jurisdiction could not be based solely on the presence of migratory birds.  In Rapanos, the 
Court addressed CWA protections for wetlands adjacent to non-navigable tributaries, and issued 
five opinions with no single opinion commanding a majority of the Court.  The plurality opinion, 
authored by Justice Scalia, stated that “waters of the United States” extended beyond traditional 
navigable waters to include “relatively permanent, standing or flowing bodies of water.”  Id. at 
739. The plurality went on to clarify that relatively permanent waters ”do not necessarily 
exclude” streams, rivers, or lakes that might dry up in extraordinary circumstances, such as 
drought, and seasonal rivers, which contain continuous flow during some months of the year but 
no flow during dry months.  The plurality opinion also asserted that only wetlands with a 
“continuous surface connection” to other jurisdictional waters are considered “adjacent” and 
protected by the CWA. Id. at 742.   

Justice Kennedy’s concurring opinion took a different approach from Justice Scalia’s.  
Justice Kennedy concluded that “waters of the United States” included wetlands that had a 
significant nexus to traditional navigable waters, “if the wetlands, either alone or in combination 
with similarly situated lands in the region, significantly affect the chemical, physical, and 
biological integrity of other covered waters more readily understood as ‘navigable’” (id. at 780).   
The four justices who signed on to Justice Stevens’ opinion would have upheld jurisdiction under 
the agencies' existing regulations and stated that they would uphold jurisdiction under either the 
plurality or Justice Kennedy's opinion (id. at 810).    

The agencies continue to believe, as expressed in previous guidance, that it is most 
consistent with the Rapanos decision to assert jurisdiction over waters that satisfy either the 
plurality or the Justice Kennedy standard, since a majority of justices would support jurisdiction 
under either standard. However, after careful review of these opinions, the agencies concluded 
that previous guidance did not make full use of the authority provided by the CWA to include 
waters within the scope of the Act, as interpreted by the Court.  This draft guidance provides a 
more complete discussion of the agencies’ interpretation, including of how waters with a 
"significant nexus" to traditional navigable waters or interstate waters are protected by the CWA.  
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In addition, this guidance explains the legal basis for coverage of waters by the CWA in cases 
that were not addressed by the previous guidance (for example, interstate waters). 

The agencies expect, based on relevant science and recent field experience, that under the 
understandings stated in this draft guidance, the extent of waters over which the agencies assert 
jurisdiction under the CWA will increase compared to the extent of waters over which 
jurisdiction has been asserted under existing guidance, though certainly not to the full extent that 
it was typically asserted prior to the Supreme Court decisions in SWANCC and Rapanos. 
However, each jurisdictional determination will be made on a case-by-case basis considering the 
facts and circumstances of the case and consistent with applicable statutes, regulations, and case 
law. 

The agencies understand that decisions concerning whether or not a waterbody is subject 
to the CWA have consequences for State, tribal, and local governments and for private parties.  
Consistent with Executive Order 13563, and in particular its emphasis on predictability and 
certainty, key goals of this draft guidance are to increase clarity and to reduce costs and delays in 
obtaining CWA permits by reducing the complexity of Corps of Engineers and EPA decisions 
concerning waters protected by the CWA, thus improving the predictability of the process of 
identifying waters protected by the Act, and increasing consistency of decisions across the 
country. 

There is only one CWA definition of “waters of the United States.”  Thus, this draft 
guidance, like the earlier guidance it replaces, necessarily will apply to decisions concerning 
whether a waterbody is subject to any of the programs authorized under the CWA.  Although 
SWANCC and Rapanos specifically involved section 404 of the CWA and discharges of dredged 
or fill material, the term “waters of the United States” must be interpreted consistently for all 
CWA provisions that use the term.  These provisions include the section 402 National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit program, the section 311 oil spill program,5 the 
water quality standards and total maximum daily load programs under section 303, and the 
section 401 State water quality certification process.  However, while there is only one CWA 
definition of “waters of the United States,” there may be other statutory factors that define the 
reach of a particular CWA program or provision.6 

This draft guidance does not address the regulatory exclusions from coverage under the 
CWA for waste treatment systems and prior converted croplands, or practices for identifying 
waste treatment systems or prior converted croplands.7  It does not affect any of the exemptions 
from CWA section 404 permitting requirements provided by CWA section 404(f), including 
those for normal agriculture, forestry and ranching practices.8  This guidance also does not 
address the statutory and regulatory exemptions from NPDES permitting requirements for 
agricultural stormwater discharges and return flows from irrigated agriculture.9 

The CWA provisions and supporting regulations described in this document contain 
legally binding requirements.  The agencies emphasize that this guidance does not substitute for 
those provisions or regulations and is not itself a regulation.  It does not impose legally binding 
requirements on EPA, the Corps, or the regulated community, and may not apply to a particular 
situation depending on the circumstances. Any decisions regarding a particular water will be 
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based on the applicable statutes, regulations, and case law. Therefore, interested persons are free 
to raise questions regarding particular situations, and EPA and/or the Corps will consider 
whether or not the recommendations or interpretations of this guidance are appropriate in that 
situation based on the statutes, regulations, and case law.  The use of language such as 
"recommend," "may," "should" and "can" is intended to describe agency policies and 
recommendations, while the use of mandatory terminology such as "must" and "required" is 
intended to describe the agencies’ interpretations of controlling requirements under the terms of 
the CWA, its implementing regulations, and relevant case law. 

This draft guidance is divided into eight sections:   

•	 The first two sections address the fundamental classes of waters subject to Clean Water 
Act jurisdiction: traditional navigable waters (Section 1) and interstate waters (Section 
2). 

•	 The next section provides general guidance relating to the “significant nexus” standard 
described by Justice Kennedy in the Rapanos decision (Section 3). 

•	 The next three sections provide guidance on determining whether various types of waters 
are subject to CWA jurisdiction, including: 
o	 Tributaries (Section 4);  
o	 Adjacent wetlands (Section 5); and 
o	 Other waters (Section 6). 

•	 The next section provides examples of waters that are generally not waters of the United 
States under the CWA (Section 7).   

•	 The final section provides guidance on the documentation necessary to support decisions 
concerning whether waters are protected by the CWA (Section 8). 

Additional scientific and legal information concerning these topics is provided in an 
appendix at the end of this document.  
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Summary of Key Points 

Based on the agencies’ interpretation of the statute, implementing regulations and relevant 
caselaw, the following waters are protected by the Clean Water Act: 
•	 Traditional navigable waters; 
•	 Interstate waters; 
•	 Wetlands adjacent to either traditional navigable waters or interstate waters; 
•	 Non-navigable tributaries to traditional navigable waters that are relatively permanent, 

meaning they contain water at least seasonally; and 
•	 Wetlands that directly abut relatively permanent waters. 

In addition, the following waters are protected by the Clean Water Act if a fact-specific analysis 
determines they have a “significant nexus” to a traditional navigable water or interstate water: 
•	 Tributaries to traditional navigable waters or interstate waters; 
•	 Wetlands adjacent to jurisdictional tributaries to traditional navigable waters or 

interstate waters; and 
•	 Waters that fall under the “other waters” category of the regulations. The guidance 

divides these waters into two categories, those that are physically proximate to other 
jurisdictional waters and those that are not, and discusses how each category should be 
evaluated. 

The following aquatic areas are generally not protected by the Clean Water Act: 
•	 Wet areas that are not tributaries or open waters and do not meet the agencies’ 


regulatory definition of “wetlands”;
 
•	 Waters excluded from coverage under the CWA by existing regulations; 
•	 Waters that lack a “significant nexus” where one is required for a water to be protected 

by the CWA; 
•	 Artificially irrigated areas that would revert to upland should irrigation cease; 
•	 Artificial lakes or ponds created by excavating and/or diking dry land and used 

exclusively for such purposes as stock watering, irrigation, settling basins, or rice 
growing; 

•	 Artificial reflecting pools or swimming pools created by excavating and/or diking dry 
land; 

•	 Small ornamental waters created by excavating and/or diking dry land for primarily 
aesthetic reasons; 

•	 Water-filled depressions created incidental to construction activity; 
•	 Groundwater drained through subsurface drainage systems and 
•	 Erosional features (gullies and rills), and swales and ditches that are not tributaries or 

wetlands. 
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Section 1: Traditional Navigable Waters 
 
 EPA and the Corps will continue to assert  CWA jurisdiction over “[a]ll waters which are 
currently used, or were used in the past, or may be susceptible to use in interstate or foreign 
commerce, including all waters which are subject to the ebb and flow of the tide.”10  These 
waters are referred to in this guidance as “traditional navigable waters.”  The traditional 
navigable waters include all of the “navigable waters of the United States,” as defined in 33 
C.F.R. part 329 and by numerous decisions of the federal courts, plus all other waters that are 
navigable-in-fact (for example, the Great Salt Lake, Utah, and Lake Minnetonka, Minnesota).  
Thus, the traditional navigable waters include, but are not limited to, the “navigable waters of the 
United States”  within the meaning of section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899 (also 
known as “Section 10 waters”).11  
 
 For purposes of CWA jurisdiction and this guidance, waters will be considered traditional 
navigable waters if: 
 
• 	 They are subject to section 9 or 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act; or 
• 	 A federal court has determined that the water body is navigable-in-fact under federal law; 

or 
• 	 They are waters currently being used for commercial navigation, including commercial 

waterborne recreation (for example, boat rentals, guided fishing trips, or water ski 
tournaments); or 

• 	 They have historically been used for commercial navigation, including commercial 
waterborne recreation; or 

• 	 They are susceptible to being used in the future for commercial navigation, including 
commercial waterborne recreation. Susceptibility for future use may be determined by 
examining a number of factors, including the physical characteristics and capacity of the 
water to be used in commercial navigation, including commercial recreational navigation 
(for example, size, depth, and flow velocityiv), and the likelihood of future commercial 
navigation, including commercial waterborne recreation.  A likelihood of future 
commercial navigation, including commercial waterborne recreation, can be 
demonstrated by current boating or canoe trips for recreation or other purposes.   A 
determination that a water is susceptible to future commercial navigation, including 
commercial waterborne recreation, should be supported by evidence. v    

 
  

                                                 
iv  While a traditional  navigable water need  not  be capable of supporting navigation at all times, the frequency,
  
volume, and duration of flow are relevant considerations for determining if a waterbody  has the physical 
 
characteristics suitable for navigation. 
 
v A trip taken solely for the  purpose of  demonstrating a waterbody can be  navigated would be sufficient.   See, e.g., 

FPL Energy Marine Hydro L.L.C. v. FERC, 287 F.3d  1151, 1157 (D.C. Cir. 2002). 
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Section 2: Interstate Waters 

EPA and the Corps will assert jurisdiction over all interstate waters, consistent with the 
agencies’ current regulations defining “waters of the United States” to include “interstate waters 
including interstate wetlands.”12  Interstate waters, defined by the federal water pollution control 
statutes prior to the CWA as “all rivers, lakes, and other waters that flow across, or form a part 
of, State boundaries,” remain jurisdictional waters under the CWA, even if such waters are not 
traditional navigable waters as described in Section 1 above.13  For purposes of this guidance, 
lakes, ponds, and similar lentic (or still) water features crossing state boundaries are 
jurisdictional as interstate waters in their entirety.  For streams and rivers, including 
impoundments, field staff should determine the upstream and downstream extent of the stream 
or river crossing a state boundary that should be considered the “interstate water.”  One method 
of determining the extent of a riverine “interstate water” is the use of stream order.  Thus, for 
rivers and streams the “interstate water” would extend upstream and downstream of such 
boundary for the entire length that the water is of the same stream order.14 

The agencies will analyze tributaries to interstate waters15 consistent with the treatment of 
tributaries to traditional navigable waters under Justice Kennedy's standard discussed in Section 
4 below. Similarly, the agencies will analyze wetlands adjacent to interstate waters (except 
wetlands that are adjacent to interstate wetlands)16 consistent with the treatment of adjacent 
wetlands under Justice Kennedy's standard discussed in Section 5 below.  Finally, EPA and the 
Corps will analyze other waters relative to an interstate water consistent with Section 6 below. 

Section 3: Significant Nexus Analysis 

The agencies will assert jurisdiction over waters with a significant nexus to traditional 
navigable waters or interstate waters in accordance with SWANCC and Rapanos. Justice 
Kennedy stated: 

“In Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook Cty. v. Army Corps of Engineers, 531 
U.S. 159 (2001) (SWANCC), the Court held, under the circumstances presented there, 
that to constitute ‘navigable waters’ under the Act, a water or wetland must possess a 
‘significant nexus’ to waters that are or were navigable in fact or that could reasonably be 
so made.”17 

Waters have the requisite significant nexus if they, either alone or in combination with 
similarly situated waters in the region, significantly affect the chemical, physical, or biological 
integrity of traditional navigable waters or interstate waters.vi  There is one significant nexus 
standard for waters of the United States, and this section provides general guidance for 
determining the presence or absence of a significant nexus.    Sections 4, 5 and 6 provide more 

vi In discussing the significant nexus standard, Justice Kennedy stated: “The required nexus must be assessed in 
terms of the statute’s goals and purposes.  Congress enacted the [CWA] to ‘restore and maintain the chemical, 
physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters’ . . . .” 547 U.S. at 779.  Consistent with Justice Kennedy’s 
instruction, EPA and the Corps will apply the significant nexus standard in a manner that restores and maintains any 
of these three attributes of traditional navigable waters and interstate waters.   
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specific guidance to field staff for applying the significant nexus standard when determining 
jurisdiction over: 

 
• 	 tributaries,  
•  adjacent wetlands, and  

•  other waters. 


 
To evaluate the presence or absence of a significant nexus, the agencies intend to, as a 

general matter, consider:  
 
(1)  Waters to be “similarly situated” with waters of the same resource type, specifically 

(a) tributaries; (b) adjacent wetlands; or (c) other waters that are in close physical 
proximity to traditional navigable waters, interstate waters, or their jurisdictional 
tributaries (“proximate other waters”);vii   

(2)  Waters to be “in the region” if they fall within the same watershed.  For the purposes 	
of this analysis, the watershed is defined by the area draining into the traditional 
navigable water or interstate water; and    

(3)  Waters to have a significant nexus if they alone or in combination with other similarly 
situated waters in the same watershed have an effect on the chemical, physical, or 
biological integrity of traditional navigable waters or interstate waters that is more 
than “speculative or insubstantial.”  
 

Therefore, field staff should first determine whether the water to be evaluated is a 
tributary, adjacent wetland, or proximate other water under the regulations - waters in the same  
category should be considered the similarly situated waters.  

 
 Next, field staff should determine the watershed, as defined by the area18 draining into the 
nearest traditional navigable water or interstate water, and should identify the “similarly 
situated” waters in that watershed.  The logical and scientifically valid "region" for determining 
whether similarly situated waters have a significant nexus is the watershed that drains to the 
nearest traditional navigable water or interstate water through a single point of entry. There may 
be circumstances in which field staff, for efficiency purposes, elect to begin the case-by-case 
significant nexus analysis utilizing a smaller watershed (for example, in some circumstances, the 
Hydrologic Unit Code (HUC)-10 "watershed" as identified by the U.S. Geological Survey and 
the Natural Resources Conservation Service, which are typically between 40,000-250,000 acres 
in size).19  Field staff should not, however, utilize an area larger than the watershed that drains to 
the nearest traditional navigable water or interstate water through a single point of entry.  When a 
smaller watershed provides sufficient science-based justification to establish jurisdiction, field 
staff need not unnecessarily expend administrative time and resources analyzing the entire single 
point of entry watershed. However, field staff should not use a watershed smaller than the single 
point of entry watershed as the basis for a finding of no jurisdiction. 

                                                 
vii  For other waters that are not in close physical proximity to traditional navigable waters, interstate waters, or their 
jurisdictional tributaries, the agencies will apply the significant nexus standard to each  of these waters individually, 
except in cases where there is a compelling scientific basis for treating a group  of such waters as similarly situated  
waters in the same region  (see Section 6). 
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Finally, field staff should determine whether the water they are evaluating, in 
combination with other similarly situated waters in the watershed, has a significant nexus to the 
nearest traditional navigable water or interstate water.  Functions of waters that might 
demonstrate a significant nexus include sediment trapping, nutrient recycling, pollutant trapping 
and filtering, retention or attenuation of flood waters, runoff storage, and provision of aquatic 
habitat. A hydrologic connection is not necessary to establish a significant nexus, because in 
some cases the lack of a hydrologic connection would be a sign of the water’s function in 
relationship to the traditional navigable water or interstate water, such as retention of flood 
waters or pollutants that would otherwise flow downstream to the traditional navigable water or 
interstate water.    

Within a single point of entry watershed, over a period of time there will probably be 
multiple jurisdictional determinations.  While field staff will have to make case-specific 
determinations, they may use information used in previous determinations, and the agencies 
would generally expect that if a significant nexus has been established for one water in the 
watershed, then other similarly situated waters in the watershed would also be found to have a 
significant nexus, because under Justice Kennedy’s test, similarly situated waters in the region 
should be evaluated together.  However, the documentation for each case should be complete 
enough to support the specific jurisdictional determination without cross-references to other files, 
including an explanation of which waters were considered together as similarly situated and in 
the same region.  

Among the most important tasks for field staff is demonstrating that a significant nexus 
exists between the “similarly situated” waters that are the subject of a case-specific jurisdictional 
determination and the relevant traditional navigable water or interstate water. Justice Kennedy 
provides guidance about the nature of the nexus when he concludes that waters are not 
jurisdictional when their effects on the physical, chemical, or biological integrity of downstream 
traditional navigable waters are speculative or insubstantial.  In the context used by Justice 
Kennedy, a “significant nexus” includes having a predictable or observable chemical, physical, 
or biological functional relationship between the similarly situated waters and the traditional 
navigable water or interstate water.  EPA and the Corps should further demonstrate that the 
similarly situated waters significantly affect the traditional navigable water or interstate water. 

Thus, field staff should look for indicators of hydrology, effects on water quality, and 
physical, chemical, and biological (including ecological) connections or functions when 
assessing whether a water, alone or in combination with similarly situated waters, has a more 
than speculative or insubstantial effect on the chemical, physical, or biological integrity of 
downstream traditional navigable waters or interstate waters.  Examples of ways in which 
hydrology can significantly affect downstream waters include, but are not limited to, transport of 
water and materials and compounds carried by the water (e.g., suspended materials, dissolved 
compounds), water retention, as a medium for the movement of aquatic organisms such as fish 
and invertebrates, and water discharge (e.g., release of retained water to other waters).  Effects 
on the chemical integrity of downstream waters may include the extent to which the waters have 
the capacity to carry pollutants (for example, petroleum wastes, toxic wastes, and sediment) or 
flood waters downstream to traditional navigable waters or interstate waters; the extent to which 
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the waters reduce the amount of pollutants or flood waters that would otherwise enter traditional 
navigable waters or interstate waters; and the extent to which the waters perform physical 
functions related to the maintenance of downstream water quality such as sediment trapping. 
 Biological functions performed by the waters that may affect downstream traditional navigable 
waters or interstate waters include the capacity to transfer nutrients and organic carbon to 
downstream food webs (for example, macroinvertebrates present in headwater streams convert 
carbon in leaf litter, making it available to species downstream), and the maintenance of habitat 
that provides spawning areas for species in downstream waters.  

Analysis of the above indicators, whether documented for an individual water or based on 
scientific literature describing functions applicable to the waters in question, along with an 
analysis of how the described functions affect a traditional navigable water or interstate water 
will allow field staff to evaluate whether the water alone or in combination with similarly 
situated waters in the watershed is likely to have a more than speculative or insubstantial effect 
on the chemical, physical, or biological integrity of a traditional navigable water or interstate 
water. It is not appropriate to determine significant nexus based solely on any specific threshold 
of distance (for example, between a tributary and the traditional navigable water).  Watershed 
ecosystems, and their interrelationships, are constructed of component parts that have relevance 
when considered collectively. Failure to protect the components can undermine the ecosystem in 
its entirety.  Therefore, the agencies have an obligation to evaluate waters in terms of how they 
interrelate and function as ecosystems rather than as individual units, especially in the context of 
complex ecosystems where their integrity may be compromised by environmental harms that 
individually may not be measurably large but collectively are significant.  

It is important to clarify that agency field staff, in conducting a significant nexus analysis, 
are not required to identify or evaluate every similarly situated water located within a particular 
watershed being assessed. Staff should evaluate as many waters of the same type as is necessary 
to support and document the presence or absence of a significant nexus for that type of water 
(e.g., adjacent wetland, tributary or proximate other water).  Staff should be confident that their 
significant nexus determination based on evaluation of a representative subset of adjacent 
wetlands, tributaries, or proximate other waters in a particular watershed would be fully 
consistent with a determination based on an evaluation of all waters of the same type in the 
watershed. Field staff should look at the best available information to identify the similarly 
situated waters in the point of entry watershed and their effects on downstream traditional 
navigable waters or interstate waters. In many circumstances, a reliable affirmative jurisdictional 
determination may be based on consideration of a subset of similarly situated waters, since 
including additional waters in the analysis would only establish a more significant nexus to the 
traditional navigable water or interstate water.  In general, field staff are not expected to develop 
new information on similarly situated waters (e.g., the identification or delineation of as yet 
unmapped wetlands or tributaries).  In many cases, scientifically credible (e.g., peer reviewed) 
literature on the functions and effects of similarly situated waters generally will be sufficient, 
along with site-specific information for the water for which a determination is being conducted, 
to support a significant nexus jurisdictional determination.  This information should be 
incorporated into a site-specific explanation of how the waterbody and similarly situated waters 
in the region significantly affect the physical, chemical, or biological integrity of a traditional 
navigable or interstate water. 
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Section 4: Tributaries 

EPA and the Corps will assert jurisdiction over tributaries under either the plurality 
standard or the Kennedy standard, as described below. 

For purposes of this guidance, a water may be a tributary if it contributes flow to a 
traditional navigable water or interstate water, either directly or indirectly by means of other 
tributaries. A tributary can be a natural, man-altered, or man-made water body.  Examples 
include rivers and streams, as well as lakes and certain wetlands that are part of the tributary 
system and flow directly or indirectly into traditional navigable waters or interstate waters. A 
tributary is physically characterized by the presence of a channel with defined bed and bank. The 
bed of a stream is the bottom of the channel. The lateral constraints (channel margins) are the 
stream banks.  Channels are formed, maintained, and altered by the water and sediment they 
carry, and the forms they take can vary greatly.   

A means of identifying the lateral limits of a tributary, including where there are no 
contiguous wetlands, is the existence of an ordinary high water mark (OHWM).  Corps 
regulations define OHWM as “that line on the shore established by the fluctuations of water and 
indicated by physical characteristics such as a clear, natural line impressed on the bank, shelving, 
changes in the character of soil, destruction of terrestrial vegetation, the presence of litter and 
debris, or other appropriate means that consider the characteristics of the surrounding areas.”20 

In many tributaries, the bed is that part of the channel below the OWHM, and the banks often 
extend above the OHWM. Channel characteristics depend on variables such as hydrology, 
lithology, climate, physiography, and gradient,21 among others. A tributary continues as far as a 
channel (i.e., bed and bank) is present. A natural or manmade break (e.g., rock outcrop, 
underground flow, dam, weir, diversion, or similar break) in the presence of a bed and bank or 
ordinary high water mark does not establish the upstream limit of a tributary in cases where a 
bed and bank and an ordinary high water mark can be identified upstream and downstream of the 
break. Tributaries that have been channelized by being lined with concrete are still considered 
tributaries for the purposes of this guidance. 

Certain types of erosional features, such as gullies and rills, are not tributaries for 
purposes of this guidance.  Gullies22 are relatively deep channels that are ordinarily formed on 
valley sides and floors where no well-defined channel previously existed.  They are commonly 
found in areas with low-density vegetative cover or with soils that are highly erodible.  Rills23 

are formed by overland water flows eroding the soil surface during rain storms.  Erosional 
features that are not tributaries for the purposes of this guidance can also be found in 
environments where compacted soil and sparse vegetation have increased overland flow 
significantly. The two main processes that result in the formation of gullies and similar erosional 
features are downcutting and headcutting, which are forms of longitudinal (incising) erosion.  
These actions ordinarily result in erosional cuts that are often deeper than they are wide, with 
very steep banks, often small beds, and typically only carry water during precipitation events.  
The principal erosional processes that modify streams are also downcutting and headcutting.  In 
streams, however, lateral erosion is also very important. The result is that streams, except on 
steep slopes or where soils are highly erodible, are characterized by the presence of more defined 
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bed and banks as compared to typical erosional features that are more deeply incised.  Field staff 
should consider these factors as they distinguish streams and other tributaries that may be subject 
to Clean Water Act jurisdiction from other types of erosional features.  

 
Non-tidal ditches (including roadside and agricultural ditches) are also not tributaries except 

where they have a bed, bank, and ordinary high water mark; connect directly or indirectly to a 
traditional navigable or interstate water; and have one of the following five characteristics:  
 
• 	 natural streams that have been altered (e.g., channelized, straightened or relocated);  
• 	 ditches that have been excavated in waters of the U.S., including wetlands;  
• 	 ditches that have relatively permanent flowing or standing water;  
• 	 ditches that connect two or more jurisdictional waters of the U.S.; or 
• 	 ditches that drain natural water bodies (including wetlands) into the tributary system of a 

traditional navigable or interstate water.  
 
If a ditch is considered a tributary, it will be evaluated in the same manner as other 

tributaries (i.e., plurality standard or Kennedy standard, as appropriate).  Note that tidal ditches 
are by definition waters of the U.S. 

 
Natural and man-made swales are also not tributaries for purposes of this guidance.  In 

certain circumstances, however, ditches or swales include areas that meet the regulatory 
definition of “wetlands.”  Wetland ditches and swales will be evaluated as wetlands under the 
plurality or Kennedy standard, not as tributaries (unless the ditch itself is considered a tributary 
for one of the reasons stated above). Ditches and swales are considered wetlands when they 
meet the applicable criteria in the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual or the 
appropriate regional supplement to that Wetland Delineation Manual. 

 
Even when not jurisdictional waters, these geographic features (e.g., swales, ditches) may 

still contribute to a surface hydrologic connection between an adjacent wetland and a traditional 
navigable water or interstate water.  In addition, these geographic features may function as “point 
sources” (i.e., "discernible, confined and discrete conveyance[s]" under CWA section 502(14)), 
such that discharges of pollutants to waters through these features could be subject to other CWA 
regulations (e.g., CWA section 402). 

  
 
Tributaries Covered under the Rapanos Plurality Standard  
 

EPA and the Corps will assert jurisdiction over “relatively permanent, standing or 
continuously flowing bodies of water” connected to traditional navigable waters.viii  Under the 
plurality standard, relatively permanent waters are jurisdictional without making a significant 
nexus finding. 
                                                 
viii  547 U.S. at 739.  The agencies will not assert jurisdiction  over such  waters under the plurality standard  within the 
Eleventh Circuit, i.e.,  waters in the states of Florida, Georgia and Alabama.   See United States v.  Robison, 505 F.3d  
1208 (11th  Cir.); reh’g en  banc denied, 521 F.3d 1319 (11th  Cir.  2007), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 627, 630 (2008).  
Instead the agencies will use the Kennedy standard  only.  
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Under the plurality standard, a non-navigable tributary is jurisdictional when it satisfies 

the following characteristics:  
 
(1) 	 The tributary is connected, directly or indirectly through other tributaries, to a 

downstream traditional navigable water, and  
(2) 	 Flow in the tributary, except for drought years, is at least seasonal.  

 
A central issue to the plurality standard is what constitutes “seasonal flow.”  In this 

context, a water is “seasonal” when it has predictable flow during wet seasons in most years.  
The time period constituting “seasonal” will vary across the country.  Rather than having 
distinct, rigid boundaries, stream reaches classified as perennial, intermittent, and ephemeral may 
more accurately be described as dynamic zones within stream networks.  The length or extent of 
these zones may be highly variable and is dictated by multiple factors such as annual 
precipitation, evapotranspiration, and land- and water-use practices.24   Thus, determination of 
whether a water meets the plurality standard for relatively permanent should involve 
determination of the length and timing of seasonal flows in the ecoregion in question.   
 

Tributaries that are not relatively permanent will be evaluated under the Kennedy 
standard. 
 
Tributaries Covered under the Rapanos Kennedy Standard  
 

EPA and Corps regulations define “waters of the United States” to include tributaries to 
traditional navigable waters and to interstate waters.25  Consistent with the agencies’ 
interpretation of the CWA, these regulations and the relevant case law, EPA and the Corps 
expect to assert jurisdiction over all tributaries to traditional navigable waters or interstate 
waters, provided that the tributary, alone or in combination with other similarly situated  
tributaries in the watershed, significantly affects the chemical, physical, or biological integrity of 
traditional navigable waters or interstate waters.  
  

Thus, a tributary is jurisdictional where: 
 
(1) 	 It is a tributary as defined for purposes of this guidance to a traditional navigable 

water or an interstate water; and  
(2) 	 The tributary, alone or in combination with other tributaries in the watershed, has 

a significant nexus with the traditional navigable water or interstate water.   
 
When performing a significant nexus analysis for a tributary, the first step is to determine 

whether that tributary has a bed and bank and an ordinary high water mark.  If the tributary 
possesses those characteristics, the next step is to determine whether the tributary drains, or is 
part of a network of tributaries that drain, into a downstream traditional navigable water or 
interstate water. If it can be demonstrated that the tributary has a bed and bank, and an OHWM, 
and is part of a tributary system to a traditional navigable water or an interstate water, and, 
therefore, can transport pollutants, flood waters or other materials to a traditional navigable water 
or interstate water, then the agencies would generally expect that the tributary, along with the 
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other tributaries in the watershed (the "similarly situated" waters), can be demonstrated to have a 
significant nexus with the downstream traditional navigable water or interstate water.  This 
expectation is based on the significant harm that pollutants can have on the physical, chemical, 
or biological integrity of the downstream traditional navigable water or interstate water.26  The 
presence of a bed and bank and an OHWM are physical indicators of flow and it is likely that 
flows through all of the tributaries collectively in a watershed with the above characteristics are 
sufficient to transport pollutants, or other materials downstream to the traditional navigable water 
or interstate water in amounts that would significantly affect its chemical, physical or biological 
integrity.  

When considering whether the tributary being evaluated eventually flows to an interstate 
water or traditional navigable water, field staff should trace the tributary connection using 
resources such as direct observation or U.S. Geological Survey maps, aerial photography or other 
reliable remote sensing information, soil survey data or other appropriate information.  

Although the agencies generally expect that tributaries will be found to have a significant 
nexus with downstream traditional navigable waters or interstate waters, as explained above, it is 
still important that field staff document such a significant nexus through a site-specific analysis 
for tributaries that are not relatively permanent.  Field staff should document, using available or 
readily obtainable information wherever possible, the flow characteristics and functions of the 
tributary or tributaries, and their hydrologic relationship to the nearest downstream traditional 
navigable water or interstate water.  Hydrologic information may include volume, duration, and 
frequency of flow (if such information is readily available, e.g., through publicly available 
reports or on-line resources), as well as physical indicators of flow.  Field staff may document 
the flow characteristics of tributaries by using physical indicators of flow, observations of flow 
considered in the context of local precipitation patterns and recent precipitation events, field 
reports, local expert statements, and other sources of information.  Ordinary high water mark 
determinations are made by examining recent physical evidence of flow.27  It is not necessary to 
document actual flow data via stream gages.28  Field staff should also document other functions 
provided by the tributary, and describe how those functions may significantly affect the physical, 
chemical, or biological integrity of downstream traditional navigable waters or interstate waters.  

Flow characteristics and functions of the tributary or tributaries and their hydrologic 
relationship to the nearest downstream traditional navigable water or interstate water may 
include topographic maps, gage data, historic records of water flow, statistical data, personal 
observations/records, and other relevant information.  Consideration may also be given to 
relevant contextual factors that directly influence the hydrology of tributaries, including the size 
of the watershed, average annual rainfall, and average annual winter snow pack. The significant 
nexus evaluation should also discuss the potential for the tributaries to transport pollutants to a 
traditional navigable water or interstate water.  Direct observation of the tributary is not 
necessary if other available documentation is sufficient to establish the significant nexus. 

Examples of other functions provided by tributaries that may significantly affect the 
physical, chemical, or biological integrity of downstream traditional navigable waters or 
interstate waters include: distributing sediment29 to maintain stream and riparian habitat; nutrient 
cycling and removal; providing habitat for amphibians, fish, and other aquatic or semi-aquatic 
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species living in and near the stream that may use the downstream waters for other portions of 
their life stages (e.g., spawning areas for recreationally or commercially important species); 
improving or maintaining biological integrity in downstream waters; and transferring nutrients 
and organic carbon vital to support downstream food webs (e.g., macroinvertebrates present in 
headwater streams convert carbon in leaf litter making it available to species downstream).30  
Disruptions in these biological processes can significantly affect the functional capacity of the 
entire downstream system.31  Tributaries help to maintain base flow in the larger rivers 
downstream, which is particularly important in times of drought.  At the same time, a network of 
tributaries can regulate the flow of water into downstream waters, moderate low flow and high 
flow extremes, reduce local and downstream flooding, and prevent excess erosion caused by 
flooding.32    
 
Section 5: Adjacent Wetlands 

 
The agencies will assert Clean Water Act jurisdiction over adjacent wetlands that meet either the 
plurality standard or the Kennedy standard under Rapanos. 
 
Wetlands Covered Under the Rapanos Plurality Standard  

 
EPA and the Corps will assert jurisdiction over “wetlands with a continuous surface 

connection to” “relatively permanent, standing or continuously flowing bodies of water” 
connected to traditional navigable waters.ix  
  

 The plurality opinion in Rapanos created a standard for finding statutory jurisdiction 
under the CWA for wetlands, which is related to the presence of a physical connection between 
the wetland and the relatively permanent water to which it is  adjacent. Under the plurality 
standard, wetlands with a continuous surface connection to relatively permanent waters are 
jurisdictional without the legal obligation to make a significant nexus finding. 

 
Under the plurality standard, an adjacent wetland is jurisdictional when it satisfies the 

following characteristics: 
 
(1) 	 The wetland is adjacent to a relatively permanent, non-navigable tributary, that is 

connected to a downstream traditional navigable water, and 
(2) 	 A continuous surface connection exists between the wetland and a relatively 

permanent tributary where the wetland directly abuts the water (e.g., they are not 
separated by uplands, a berm, dike, or similar feature).  A “continuous surface 
connection” does not require the presence of water at all times in the connection 
between the wetland and the jurisdictional water.  

 
Wetlands Covered Under the Rapanos Kennedy Standard  
 

                                                 
ix 547 U.S. at 739, 742.  As noted, the agencies will not assert jurisdiction  over such  waters under the plurality 
standard within the Eleventh Circuit, i.e.,  waters in the states of Florida, Georgia and Alabama.  See United States v.  
Robison, supra, footnote h.  

15
 

http:waters.ix
http:flooding.32
http:system.31
http:downstream).30


 

 
 

The agencies will assert Clean Water Act jurisdiction over wetlandsx adjacent to 
traditional navigable waters or non-wetland interstate waters or to another water of the U.S. 
where such wetlands have a significant nexus with downstream traditional navigable or interstate 
waters.xi  Adjacent wetlands will be considered to have a significant nexus if they, alone or in 
combination with similarly situated wetlands, have an effect on the chemical, physical, or 
biological integrity of traditional navigable waters or interstate waters that is more than 
“speculative or insubstantial.”33  As a general matter, “similarly situated” adjacent wetlands 
include all adjacent wetlands located in the point-of-entry watershed.  Wetlands adjacent to 
traditional navigable waters or non-wetland interstate waters are per se jurisdictional and do not 
require a showing of significant nexus.34  

 
Thus, an adjacent wetland is jurisdictional where such wetland meets the definition of  

“adjacent” as that term is defined in the agencies’ regulations and is either:  
 
(1) Adjacent to a traditional navigable water or non-wetland interstate water; or 
(2) Adjacent to a tributary, lake, reservoir, or other jurisdictional water (except another 
wetland) and either alone or in combination with other adjacent wetlands in the 
watershed has a significant nexus to the nearest downstream traditional navigable or 
interstate water.  

 
 The regulations define “adjacent” as follows: “The term  adjacent means bordering, 
contiguous, or neighboring. Wetlands separated from other waters of the United States by man-
made dikes or barriers, natural river berms, beach dunes and the like are ‘adjacent wetlands.’”35   
Under this definition, a wetland does not need to meet all criteria to be considered adjacent. The 
agencies consider wetlands to be bordering, contiguous, or neighboring, and therefore “adjacent” 
if at least one of following three criteria is satisfied:  
 

(1)  There is an unbroken surface or shallow sub-surface hydrologic connection between 
the wetland and jurisdictional waters; or  

(2)  The wetlands are physically separated from jurisdictional waters by “man-made dikes 
or barriers, natural river berms, beach dunes, and the like”; or  

(3)  Where a wetland’s physical proximity to a jurisdictional water is reasonably close, 
that wetland is “neighboring” and thus adjacent. For example, wetlands located 
within the riparian area or floodplain of a jurisdictional water will generally be 
considered neighboring, and thus adjacent. One test for whether a wetland is 
sufficiently proximate to be considered “neighboring” is whether there is a 
demonstrable ecological interconnection between the wetland and the jurisdictional 
waterbody. For example, if resident aquatic species (e.g., amphibians, aquatic turtles, 
fish, or ducks) rely on both the wetland and the jurisdictional waterbody for all or 
part of their life cycles (e.g., nesting, rearing, or feeding), that may demonstrate that 

                                                 
x Under normal circumstances, a wetland  will meet all three factors of hydrology, hydrophytic vegetation, and  
hydric soils, as required by agency regulations, and described in the United States, U.S.  Army Corps of Engineers,  
Wetlands Delineation Manual (Washington, D.C.:  U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,1987) or appropriate Regional 
Supplement.  The regulatory definition of waters of the U.S. includes “wetlands adjacent to  waters (other than 
waters that are themselves wetlands) identified  [as jurisdictional].” 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a)(7); 40 C.F.R. § 230.3(s)(7). 
xi The plurality standard in  Rapanos may provide an alternative basis for asserting jurisdiction. See Section  5.  
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the wetland is neighboring and thus adjacent.  The agencies recognize that as the 
distance between the wetland and jurisdictional water increases, the potential 
ecological interconnection between the waters is likely to decrease.   

An unbroken surface or shallow sub-surface hydrologic connection to jurisdictional 
waters may be established by a physical feature or discrete conveyance that supports periodic 
flow between the wetland and a jurisdictional water.  Water does not have to be continuously 
present in this hydrologic connection and the flow between the wetland and the jurisdictional 
water may move in either or both directions.  The hydrologic connection need not itself be a 
water of the U.S. A shallow subsurface hydrologic connection is lateral water flow through a 
shallow subsurface layer, such as may be found in steeply sloping forested areas with shallow 
soils, soils with a restrictive horizon, or in karst systems.36 Shallow subsurface connections may 
be found below the ordinary root zone (below 12 inches), where other wetland delineation 
factors may not be present.  A combination of physical factors may reflect the presence of a 
shallow subsurface connection, including, position in the landscape (for example, on a slope 
directing flow from wetland to jurisdictional waters), stream hydrograph, and soil surveys (for 
example, exhibiting indicators of high transmissivity over an impermeable layer). 

If uplands separating a wetland from jurisdictional water can reasonably be characterized 
as “man-made dikes or barriers, natural river berms, beach dunes, and the like,” then, under the 
agencies’ regulations, the wetlands are adjacent even if no apparent hydrologic connection exists.  
It is important to note that natural river berms are formed by sediment deposits accumulating at 
or near the stream bank during flood events.  Such berms vary in height from inches to feet, and 
also can be quite wide.37  Similarly, multiple beach dunes may exist between a wetland and 
jurisdictional water (including primary and secondary dunes), because beach dunes typically 
function as an interdunal system (particularly on barrier islands).   

The link between physical proximity and a physical or ecological (biological) connection 
is well documented in the scientific literature.  A wetland within the riparian area38 or 
floodplain39 typically has such an interconnection.  For example, adjacent wetlands typically help 
to store floodwaters, pollutants, and sediments that could otherwise reach a jurisdictional water.40 

Adjacent wetlands often provide important sources of stored water that augment stream flow 
during low-flow periods.41  Species, such as amphibians, certain reptiles (e.g., watersnakes), 
waterfowl, invertebrates, and fish (including anadromous and catadromous fish), move between 
an adjacent wetland and a jurisdictional water for spawning, nesting, feeding, refuge, and other 
life stage requirements.42  Species that move between an adjacent wetland and a jurisdictional 
water are distinguishable from migratory species.  Migratory species use the wetland during a 
journey to a different area43 and are not to be used as a scientific basis for demonstrating an 
ecological interconnection for adjacency.  While it is not appropriate to determine adjacency 
based solely on any specific threshold of distance, as the distance between the wetland and 
jurisdictional water increases, the potential interconnection between the waters  will decrease and 
a finding of adjacency is less likely.  The distance between a tributary and its adjacent wetlands 
may vary by region, as well as based on site-specific factors within regions. 

All wetlands within a wetland mosaic should ordinarily be considered collectively when 
determining adjacency. Wetlands present in such systems act generally as a single ecological 
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unit. A “wetland mosaic” refers to a landscape where wetland and non-wetland components are 
too numerous and closely associated to be appropriately delineated or mapped separately.  These 
areas often have complex microtopography, with repeated small changes in elevation occurring 
over short distances. Tops of ridges and hummocks are often non-wetland but are interspersed 
with wetlands having hydrophytic vegetation, hydric soils, and wetland hydrology.  

Under Justice Kennedy’s standard, the following legal test for Clean Water Act 
jurisdiction applies: If a wetland is adjacent to a traditional navigable water or a non-wetland 
interstate water, a finding of adjacency is sufficient in and of itself to demonstrate that the 
wetland is subject to Clean Water Act jurisdiction. On the other hand, a finding that a particular 
wetland is adjacent to a jurisdictional waterbody other than a traditional navigable water or non-
wetland interstate water is not sufficient in and of itself to establish Clean Water Act jurisdiction 
over that wetland. For the latter category of adjacent wetlands, in order to establish Clean Water 
Act jurisdiction, field staff, on a case-by-case basis, must determine whether the particular 
adjacent wetland, alone or in combination with similarly situated wetlands in that watershed, has 
a significant nexus with traditional navigable waters or non-wetland interstate waters (see 
discussion below). 

A determination of adjacency is based on an evaluation of the relationship between a 
wetland and the nearest jurisdictional water, which includes consideration of both physical and 
ecological connections between those waterbodies.  In contrast, a determination of significant 
nexus is a different inquiry, which is based on evaluating whether there is a significant nexus 
between that adjacent wetland (in combination with similarly situated adjacent wetlands in the 
watershed) and a traditional navigable water or a non-wetland interstate water. 

As discussed in Section 3, the agencies generally consider all wetlands within the 
watershed that are adjacent to jurisdictional waters to be “similarly situated” waters “in the 
region.” (Wetlands adjacent to non-jurisdictional waters are considered “other waters.”)  The 
relevant watershed is defined by the topographic area draining into the nearest traditional 
navigable water or interstate water.  However, as with tributaries, field staff may utilize a smaller 
area for a significant nexus analysis where this is sufficient to establish the presence or absence 
of a significant nexus for adjacent wetlands within the watershed as a whole.  When identifying 
other adjacent wetlands in the watershed to be considered in the significant nexus analysis, field 
staff may use resources such as direct observation or U.S. Geological Survey maps, aerial 
photography, or other reliable remote sensing information.  Using such information, staff should 
include in the evaluation as many adjacent wetlands as is necessary to support and document the 
presence or absence of a significant nexus. Field staff are not required to identify or evaluate 
every adjacent wetland located within a particular watershed being assessed and are generally 
not expected to develop new information on the location of such wetlands.  As with tributaries, 
field staff should use the best available information on the adjacent wetlands in the point of entry 
watershed, which may include scientific literature on the functions and effects of wetlands within 
the watershed generally and how those wetlands significantly affect the physical, chemical, or 
biological integrity of the traditional navigable waters or interstate waters.  For affirmative 
determinations especially, consideration of a subset of adjacent wetlands may be sufficient, since 
including additional adjacent wetlands in the analysis would only establish a more significant 
nexus to the traditional navigable water or interstate water. 
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When evaluating significant nexus for adjacent wetlands, field staff should consider the 
many functions of waters such as sediment trapping, nutrient recycling, pollutant trapping and 
filtering, retention or attenuation of flood waters, runoff storage, and provision of habitat. In 
general, tributaries and their adjacent wetlands function as an integrated hydrologic system, and 
as a unit they may affect the amount of pollutants and floodwaters that reach the downstream 
traditional navigable waters or interstate waters.  

Section 6: Other Waters 

The “other waters” or “(a)(3) waters” provision of EPA’s and the Corps regulations 
includes: 

All other waters such as intrastate lakes, rivers, streams (including intermittent streams), 
mudflats, sandflats, wetlands, sloughs, prairie potholes, wet meadows, playa lakes, or 
natural ponds, the use, degradation or destruction of which could affect interstate or 
foreign commerce. . . . 44 

The agencies recognize that Supreme Court decisions in SWANCC and Rapanos have 
identified limitations on the scope of (a)(3) waters that may be determined to be jurisdictional 
under the CWA.  The agencies expect to further clarify the scope of waters subject to CWA 
jurisdiction, including jurisdiction over (a)(3) waters after SWANCC and Rapanos, as part of a 
notice and comment rulemaking.  In the meantime, the agencies will make case-by-case, fact-
specific determinations of jurisdiction under (a)(3) in the manner discussed below. 

Physically Proximate Other Waters  

EPA and the Corps will make fact-specific determinations of jurisdiction for other waters 
that are in close physical proximity to traditional navigable waters, interstate waters, or their 
jurisdictional tributaries, and that alone or in combination with similarly situated proximate other 
waters in the region significantly affect the chemical, physical, or biological integrity of 
traditional navigable waters or interstate waters.  For purposes of this guidance, proximate other 
waters are non-wetland waters that would satisfy the regulatory definition of “adjacent” if they 
were wetlands. They include lakes, ponds, and other non-wetland waters that are bordering, 
contiguous, or neighboring to jurisdictional waters, including waters that are separated from 
jurisdictional waters by man-made dikes or barriers, natural river berms, beach dunes and the 
like. Such waters have many of the same functions and effects with respect to jurisdictional 
waters as adjacent wetlands. The agencies believe it is scientifically appropriate and consistent 
with Justice Kennedy’s opinion to evaluate significant nexus for such waters in the same manner 
as for adjacent wetlands.   

For purposes of the significant nexus analysis, all physically proximate other waters in 
the same point-of-entry watershed should be evaluated together as similarly situated waters in 
the region. This is appropriate for the same reasons as it is appropriate to evaluate all adjacent 
wetlands in the point-of-entry watershed together as similarly situated waters.  
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Other Waters that Are Not Physically Proximate to Jurisdictional Waters  
 

Non-physically proximate other waters are isolated, intrastate, non-navigable waters and 
wetlands that would not meet the regulatory definition of “adjacent” with respect to jurisdictional 
waters. The agencies note that the (a)(3) provisions of our regulations remain in effect and that 
the SWANCC decision specifically addressed only the presence of migratory birds as a basis for 
asserting jurisdiction, and not the validity of the (a)(3) provisions generally.   However, the 
agencies interpret Justice Kennedy’s opinion as suggesting that the same significant nexus 
standard that he articulated for adjacent wetlands is appropriate for (a)(3) waters, and we have 
thus clarified above how this standard should be applied in the case of (a)(3) waters that are in 
close physical proximity to jurisdictional waters.  At the same time, we recognize that for other 
waters that are geographically separated from jurisdictional tributaries, establishing a significant 
nexus may be more challenging. Thus, at this time, we are not providing specific guidance on 
making such determinations and are instead directing agency field staff to continue the current 
practice of referring determinations for non-physically proximate other waters to their respective 
Headquarters and obtaining formal project-specific approval before asserting or denying 
jurisdiction. 

 
The general approach for determining significant nexus for such waters would be the 

same as discussed in Section 3.  Because such waters may be widely scattered geographically, 
and physically remote from jurisdictional waters, field staff should generally conduct significant 
nexus analyses for such waters individually, unless there is a compelling scientific basis for 
treating a group of such waters as similarly situated waters in the same region. In accordance 
with the decision in SWANCC, consideration of use by migratory species is not relevant to the 
significant nexus determination for such waters. 

 
The agencies emphasize that this document is guidance, which lacks the force of law; the 

agencies expect to proceed with notice and comment rulemaking to further clarify the regulatory 
definition of the term “waters of the United States.”  As a part of that process, we will further 
consider, based on a review of the scientific literature, how a significant nexus analysis should be 
conducted for non-physically proximate other waters. 
 
Section 7: Waters Generally Not Jurisdictional 
 

The scope of “waters of the United States” does not include all waters. EPA and the 
Corps previously have described in preambles to CWA regulations waters that the agencies 
generally do not consider to be waters of the U.S.45  The agencies’ position regarding these 
waters is unchanged. The categories of waters generally not “waters of the U.S.” include: 

 
• 	 Wet areas that are not tributaries or open waters and do not meet the regulatory definition 

of wetlands.46  
 

• 	 Waterbodies excluded from coverage under the CWA by existing regulations. 
 
• 	 Waters that lack a significant nexus when one is required for jurisdiction.  
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• 	 Artificially irrigated areas which would revert to upland if the irrigation ceased.  
 
• 	 Artificial lakes or ponds created by excavating and/or diking dry land to collect and retain 

water and which are used exclusively for such purposes as stock watering, irrigation, 
settling basins, or rice growing. 

 
• 	 Artificial reflecting pools or swimming pools excavated in uplands. 
 
• 	 Small ornamental bodies of water created by excavating and/or diking dry land to retain 

water for primarily aesthetic reasons.  
 

• 	 Water-filled depressions created in dry land incidental to construction activity and pits 
excavated in dry land for the purpose of obtaining fill, sand, or gravel, unless and until 
the construction or excavation operation is abandoned and the resulting body of water 
meets the definition of waters of the United States. 

 
• 	 Groundwater drained through subsurface drainage systems.xii  

 
• 	 Erosional features (gullies and rills), and swales and ditches that are not tributaries or 

wetlands (see Section 4). 
 

 
 
Section 8: Documentation  

 
EPA and Corps field staff should document in the administrative record the available 

information supporting a jurisdictional determination.   In addition to location and other 
descriptive information regarding the water at issue, the record should include a clear 
explanation of the rationale for the jurisdictional conclusion, and include, as appropriate: 

 
• 	 Information leading to a conclusion that a water falls within a category considered in this 

guidance to be jurisdictional without the need to demonstrate a significant nexus;  
• 	 Information used to conclude that a water has a significant nexus when one is required 

for jurisdiction; 
• 	 Information supporting a conclusion that a water lacks a significant nexus, when one is 

required for jurisdiction; or 
• 	 Information supporting a conclusion that a water falls within one of the categories of 

geographic features generally considered non-jurisdictional. 
 
 In short, both affirmative and negative jurisdictional determinations should be well-
documented, to ensure both public transparency and defensibility should a jurisdictional 

                                                 
xii A “subsurface” drainage system is an agricultural practice designed to drain subsurface water through a below 
ground  pipe system in order to maintain the groundwater table below the root zone to facilitate crop  production. The 
construction or maintenance of subsurface drain systems may require a CWA permit, if it involves discharges of 
dredged or fill material into waters of the U.S. 

21
 



 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

conclusion be challenged. The level of documentation may be greater for jurisdictional 
determinations associated with complex projects.   

Other sections of this guidance discuss the findings necessary for particular categories of 
waters to be considered jurisdictional and/or to have a significant nexus.  Information relevant to 
these findings can come from many sources, including but not limited to maps, aerial 
photography, soil surveys, watershed studies, local development plans, literature citations, and 
references from studies pertinent to the parameters being reviewed.  Such information need not 
always be specific to the water whose jurisdictional status is being evaluated; regional and 
national studies of the same type of water or similarly situated waters can help to inform a 
jurisdictional analysis as long as they are applicable to the water being evaluated.  Information 
derived from field observation is not required in cases where a "desktop" analysis can provide 
sufficient information to make the requisite findings.  However, for more complex or difficult 
jurisdictional determinations, it may be important to supplement such information with field 
observation. 

An important part of a jurisdictional analysis is the location and type of water under 
consideration, so as to readily determine if the jurisdictional status of similarly situated waters in 
the region has been previously determined.  If so, the jurisdictional conclusion, rationale, and 
supporting information for a similarly situated water are directly relevant.  As Justice Kennedy 
noted in Rapanos, where a significant nexus has been established for a particular wetland, “it 
may be permissible, as a matter of administrative convenience or necessity, to presume covered 
status for other comparable wetlands in the region.”47  Therefore, once the jurisdictional status 
for a particular water within a watershed has been established, field staff can apply the 
significant nexus analysis for that water to any subsequent determinations if they  establish (and 
document) that the water at issue is the same type and in the same watershed as the jurisdictional 
water. 
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APPENDIX 
 
DISCUSSION OF LEGAL AND SCIENTIFIC BASIS FOR  
GUIDANCE SECTIONS 
 
 

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
navigable waters to include “relatively permanent, standing or flowing bodies of water.”48  The 
plurality went on to clarify that relatively permanent waters ”do not necessarily exclude” 
streams, rivers, or lakes that might dry up in extraordinary circumstances, such as drought, and 
seasonal rivers, which contain continuous flow during some months of the year but no flow 
during dry months. The plurality opinion also asserted that only wetlands with a “continuous 
surface connection” to other jurisdictional waters are considered “adjacent” and protected by the 
CWA.49  Justice Kennedy’s concurring opinion took a different approach than Justice Scalia’s.  
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
plurality or Justice Kennedy's opinion (id. at 810).  Neither SWANCC nor the opinions in 
Rapanos invalidated any of the regulatory provisions defining “waters of the United States.”   

 
 

Section 1: Traditional Navigable Waters  
 
Legal Basis 
 
 The Supreme Court has recognized that navigability is a flexible concept and “[e]ach 
application of [the Daniel Ball test] . . . is apt to uncover variations and refinements which 
require further elaboration.”50  EPA and the Corps will be guided by examples of the types of  
evidence found relevant and sufficient for a traditional navigable waters determination in court 
decisions, although these will be fact-specific determinations and not every type of evidence will 
be available or needed in every circumstance.  Field staff have sought guidance in particular on 

 
 

 

how to determine whether a water is susceptible to being used for commercial navigation such 
that it is a traditional navigable water.  The cases discussed below provide specific examples of 
the types of evidence courts have found sufficient to demonstrate such susceptibility. 
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 In FPL Energy Marine Hydro L.L.C. v. FERC, a case involving the Federal Power Act, 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit reiterated the fact that “actual use 
is not necessary for a navigability determination” and repeated earlier Supreme Court holdings 
that navigability and capacity of a water to carry commerce could be shown through “physical 
characteristics and experimentation.”51  In that case, the D.C. Circuit upheld a Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission navigability determination that was based upon three experimental 
canoe trips taken specifically to demonstrate the river’s navigability.52  The navigability 
determination was affirmed although the stream had five sets of rapids, and all parties agreed that 
the stream has never been used for commercial traffic, that there was no evidence of recreational 
use of the stream, and that the only evidence indicating actual use of the stream came from the 
three trips made for the purpose of litigation.53 

The U.S Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit has also implemented the Supreme 
Court’s holding that a water need only be susceptible to being used for waterborne commerce to 
be navigable-in-fact. In Alaska v. Ahtna, Inc., the Ninth Circuit held that current use of an 
Alaskan river for commercial recreational boating is sufficient evidence of the water’s capacity 
to carry waterborne commerce at the time that Alaska became a state.54  It was found to be 
irrelevant whether or not the river was actually being navigated or being used for commerce at 
the time, because current recreational boating showed that the river always had the capacity to 
support navigation by the types of boats that were in use at the time of statehood.55  Here, the 
stream was found to be navigable although the shallowest part of the river is just a foot deep 
during the low season; the river is customarily used, or is susceptible to use, by watercraft such 
as powerboats, 12-foot-long inflatable rafts, and motorized freight canoes and double-ended 
paddle canoes; hunters and fishermen travelled the river by boat in the past; most of the use of 
the river is recreational; and it is possible to take guided fishing and sightseeing trips on the 
river.56 

Section 2: Interstate Waters 

Legal Basis 

The language of the CWA indicates that Congress intended the term “navigable waters” 
to include interstate waters without imposing a requirement that they be traditional navigable 
waters themselves or be connected to traditional navigable waters.  The precursor statutes to the 
CWA always subjected interstate waters and their tributaries to federal jurisdiction.xiii  The text 
of the CWA, specifically CWA section 303 that establishes ongoing requirements for interstate 
waters, in conjunction with the definition of navigable waters, provides clear indication of 
Congress’ intent to protect interstate waters that were previously subject to federal regulation. 

xiii See endnote 13. Section 2(d)(1) of the Water Pollution Control Act of 1948, 62 Stat. at 1156, stated: 

The pollution of interstate waters in or adjacent to any State or States (whether the matter causing or 
contributing to such pollution is discharged directly into such waters or reaches such waters after discharge 
into a tributary of such waters), which endangers the health or welfare of persons in a State other than that 
in which the discharge originates, is hereby declared to be a public nuisance and subject to abatement as 
herein provided.   

24


http:river.56
http:statehood.55
http:state.54
http:litigation.53
http:navigability.52


 

 
 

 

 

 
   

 
 

 
  

 

 
  

 

Other provisions of the statute provide additional textual evidence of the scope of the 
primary jurisdictional term of the Act.  Congress defined “navigable waters” in CWA section 
502(7) to mean “the waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.”  Interstate waters 
are the waters of the several States and, thus, the United States.  While the 1972 Act was clearly 
not limited to interstate waters, it was equally clearly intended to include interstate waters.  Most 
importantly, there is a specific provision in the 1972 CWA establishing requirements for those 
interstate waters which were subject to the prior Water Pollution Control Acts.  The CWA 
requires States to establish water quality standards for navigable waters and submit them to the 
Administrator for review, including “interstate waters.”  CWA section 303(a)(1) states: 

In order to carry out the purpose of this Act, any water quality standard applicable to 
interstate waters which was adopted by any State and submitted to, and approved by, or 
is awaiting approval by, the Administrator pursuant to this Act as in effect immediately 
prior to the date of enactment of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 
1972, shall remain in effect. . . . 

(Emphasis added.) Thus, Congress intended continued protection of interstate waters. 

While EPA and the Corps believe congressional intent is clear, the agencies also have a 
longstanding regulatory interpretation that interstate waters fall within the scope of CWA 
jurisdiction.57  The agencies’ interpretation was promulgated contemporaneously with the 
passage of the CWA and is consistent with the statutory and legislative history of the Act.  
Furthermore, the Supreme Court has never addressed the CWA’s coverage of interstate waters, 
and its decisions in SWANCC and Rapanos do not question the jurisdictional status of interstate 
waters or impose additional jurisdictional requirements on interstate waters. 

As noted above, the precursor statutes to the CWA always subjected interstate waters and 
their tributaries to federal jurisdiction.  While Congress intended tributaries to interstate waters to 
be subject to the CWA, the statute does not define the extent of tributaries that are covered.  In 
light of Justice Kennedy’s opinion, the agencies believe it is reasonable to assert jurisdiction over 
tributaries, adjacent wetlands and other waters which have a significant nexus to interstate waters 
consistent with the framework established by Justice Kennedy in Rapanos for establishing 
jurisdiction over waters with a significant nexus to traditional navigable waters (see sections 4, 5, 
and 6 of this guidance for additional information).  Justice Kennedy’s standard seeks to ensure 
that waters Congress intended to subject to federal jurisdiction are indeed protected, both by 
recognizing that waters and wetlands with a significant nexus to covered waters have important 
beneficial effects on those waters, and by recognizing that polluting or destroying waters with a 
significant nexus can harm downstream covered waters.   

Section 3: Significant Nexus 

Legal and Scientific Basis 
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In Rapanos, Justice Kennedy provides an approach for determining what constitutes a 
“significant nexus” that can serve as a basis for statutory jurisdiction.xiv  “The required nexus 
must be assessed in terms of the statute’s goals and purposes.  Congress enacted the law to 
‘restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters,’ 33 
U.S.C. § 1251(a), and it pursued that objective by restricting dumping and filling in ‘navigable 
waters,’ §§ 1311(a), 1362(12).”58  Justice Kennedy provided further guidance for determining 
whether wetlands should be considered to possess the requisite nexus in the context of assessing 
whether wetlands are jurisdictional: “if the wetlands, either alone or in combination with 
similarly situated [wetlands] in the region, significantly affect the chemical, physical, and 
biological integrity of other covered waters more readily understood as ‘navigable.’”59  While 
Justice Kennedy focused on adjacent wetlands in light of the facts of the cases before him, it is 
reasonable to utilize the same analysis for tributaries and other waters such as ponds, lakes and 
non-adjacent wetlands that are not themselves directly connected to a tributary system but may 
still have a significant nexus to a traditional navigable water or interstate water. 

In determining which waters to consider “similarly situated” for purposes of analyzing 
whether they have a significant nexus “in combination” with the water at issue, it is reasonable to 
begin with the categories of waters the agencies identified in promulgating their definition of 
“water of the United States.” For example, tributaries are similarly situated within the landscape 
because they are part of a stream network that provides flow to the downstream traditional 
navigable water or interstate water. Adjacent wetlands are similarly situated within the landscape 
because the agencies’ definition is focused on their proximity to another water of the United 
States – “adjacent” is defined in regulations as bordering, neighboring or contiguous (see Section 
5 for further discussion). Similarly, other waters (“(a)(3) waters”) that are in close physical 
proximity to traditional navigable or interstate waters or their tributaries are similarly situated 
with respect to those waters in much the same way as adjacent wetlands.  Justice Kennedy’s 
standard allows the agencies to analyze whether all similarly situated waters in a region together 
have a significant nexus to the downstream traditional navigable water.  With this standard, 
Justice Kennedy has recognized that even where it is difficult to demonstrate that a particular 
individual wetland adjacent to a small headwater tributary has a significant nexus to a traditional 
navigable water, the destruction of all such adjacent wetlands in a region could have a significant 
effect on the traditional navigable water and, thus, the CWA must protect those wetlands in order 
to protect the traditional navigable water.  The same logic applies to tributaries and physically 
proximate other waters.  

Waters should generally be considered “in the region” if they are within a watershed that 
drains to a traditional navigable water or interstate water, defined by the point at which a 
tributary system first enters a traditional navigable water or interstate water. Using a watershed 
as the framework for conducting significant nexus evaluations is scientifically supportable. 
Watersheds are generally regarded as the most appropriate spatial unit for water resource 

xiv Again, the four justices who signed on to Justice Stevens’ opinion would have upheld jurisdiction under the 
agencies' existing regulations and stated that they would uphold jurisdiction under either the plurality or Justice 
Kennedy's opinion.  Justice Kennedy concludes that Riverside Bayview and SWANCC “establish the framework for” 
determining whether an assertion of jurisdiction constitutes a reasonable interpretation of “navigable waters” - “the 
connection between a nonnavigable water or wetland and a navigable water may be so close, or potentially so close, 
that the Corps may deem the water or wetland a ‘navigable water’ under the Act”; “[a]bsent a significant nexus, 
jurisdiction under the Act is lacking.” 547 U.S. at 767. 
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management.60  Anthropogenic actions and natural events can have widespread effects within the 
watershed that collectively impact the quality of the relevant traditional navigable water or 
interstate water.61  For this reason, it is more appropriate to conduct a significant nexus 
determination at the watershed scale than to focus on a specific site, such as an individual stream 
segment. The watershed that contributes flow to the point of entry to a traditional navigable or 
interstate water is a logical spatial framework for the evaluation of the nexus.  The functions of 
the contributing waters are inextricably linked and have a cumulative effect on the integrity of 
the traditional navigable water or interstate water.  The size of that watershed can be determined 
by identifying the topographic area that drains to the nearest traditional navigable water or 
interstate water, and then using that point of entry watershed to conduct a significant nexus 
evaluation.62 

Justice Kennedy’s opinion provides guidance pointing to many functions of waters that 
might demonstrate a significant nexus, such as sediment trapping, nutrient recycling, pollutant 
trapping and filtering, retention or attenuation of flood waters, runoff storage, and provision of 
habitat.63  Furthermore, Justice Kennedy noted that a hydrologic connection is not necessary to 
establish a significant nexus, because in some cases the lack of hydrologic connection would 
show the significance of a water to the aquatic system, such as retention of flood waters or 
pollutants that would otherwise flow downstream to the traditional navigable water or interstate 
water.64  Finally, Justice Kennedy was clear that the requisite nexus must be more than 
“speculative or insubstantial”65 in order to be significant. 

Section 4: Tributaries 

Legal and Scientific Basis 

Tributaries Covered Under the Rapanos Plurality Standard 

As noted above, jurisdictional determinations based on the plurality standard would have 
the support of the four justices joining the plurality opinion as well as the four dissenting 
justices. The plurality concluded that the agencies’ regulatory authority should extend only to 
“relatively permanent, standing or continuously flowing bodies of water”66 connected to 
traditional navigable waters, and to “wetlands with a continuous surface connection to” such 
relatively permanent waters.67  “Relatively permanent waters” were described as waters that 
typically flow year-round except in times of drought, or waters that have a continuous flow at 
least seasonally. The plurality opinion emphasized that relatively permanent waters do not 
include tributaries “whose flow is ‘[c]oming and going at intervals  . . . [b]roken, fitful.’”68   
Therefore, “relatively permanent waters” do not include ephemeral tributaries which flow only in 
response to precipitation and intermittent streams which do not have continuous flow at least 
seasonally.xv  
 

                                                 
xv Note that under the Kennedy standard, such waters may be jurisdictional where they have a significant nexus. 
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Moreover, waters that have had at least seasonal flow on a historic basis remain 
jurisdictional despite the fact that man-made diversions for irrigation, water supply or other 
reasons have caused a tributary, or portion thereof, to flow less than seasonally.xvi 

Field staff have flexibility to determine what seasonal flow means in each particular 
case.69 Seasonal flow can be the result of snow melt, seasonal patterns in precipitation, and 
seasonal fluctuations in ground water levels. In the arid west, stream discharges are driven by 
three large-scale weather patterns.70  Precipitation produced by these weather patterns varies 
greatly for any given locality, but generally, precipitation shifts from winter in the north to 
summer in the south. The variation of precipitation in time, coupled with the highly variable 
topography of the arid west, results in spatially variable precipitation patterns.71  For example, 
seasonal flow in most of New Mexico and large portions of Arizona and Colorado would be 
during the period of two months, July and August, when they normally receive between 30-50 
percent of their annual precipitation as rain.72  In some areas, snow melt drives stream flow, and 
seasonal flow is typically in the spring.73  Seasonal patterns of flow may be less pronounced in 
the semi-arid Midwest, perhaps because of less seasonal precipitation patterns and relatively 
more vegetative cover.74  In the east precipitation is more uniform but increased 
evapotranspiration during the growing season can reduce ground water levels and surface flows 
to create seasonal and ephemeral flows.75 

Tributaries Covered Under the Rapanos Kennedy Standard 

Justice Kennedy rejected the plurality’s approach that only “relatively permanent” 
tributaries are within the scope of CWA jurisdiction.  Instead, Justice Kennedy concluded that 
“Congress could draw a line to exclude irregular waterways, but nothing in the statute suggests it 
has done so”; in fact, he states that Congress has done “[q]uite the opposite.”76  Further, Justice 
Kennedy concludes, based on “a full reading of the dictionary definition” of “water,” that “the 
Corps can reasonably interpret the Act to cover the paths of such impermanent streams.”xvii 

Even in Justice Kennedy’s rejection of Justice Stevens' opinion it is clear that he was specifically 
rejecting the broad scope of jurisdiction over wetlands without further analysis, and not 
specifically addressing jurisdiction over tributaries:  “[T]he dissent would permit federal 
regulation whenever wetlands lie alongside a ditch or drain, however remote and insubstantial, 
that eventually may flow into traditional navigable waters.  The deference owed to the Corps’ 
interpretation of the statute does not extend so far.”77 

Elsewhere, Justice Kennedy suggests that it may be appropriate to assert jurisdiction over 
all tributaries with an ordinary high-water mark.  Justice Kennedy described the Corps’ standard 

xvi See S. D. Warren Co. v. Maine Bd. of Envtl. Prot., 547 U.S. 370, 379 n.5 (2006)("[N]or can we agree that one 
can denationalize national waters by exerting private control over them."). 
xvii 547 U.S. at 770.  First, Justice Kennedy notes that the term “waters” can mean “‘flood or inundation,’” according 
to the Webster’s Second definition, and that these events are “impermanent by definition.” Id.  Second, even looking 
to the plurality’s preferred dictionary definition of “waters,” i.e., “‘water “[a]s found in streams and bodies forming 
geographical features such as oceans, rivers, [and] lakes,”’” Justice Kennedy notes that “intermittent flow can 
constitute a stream.”  Id. (alteration in original).  And finally, Justice Kennedy notes that the plurality’s reference to 
the statement by the Riverside Bayview Court comparing “wetlands to ‘rivers, streams, and other hydrographic 
features more conventionally identifiable as “waters”’ . . . .could just as well refer to intermittent streams.”  Id. at 
771 (citations omitted). 
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for asserting jurisdiction over tributaries: “[T]he Corps deems a water a tributary if it feeds into a 
traditional navigable water (or a tributary thereof) and possesses an ordinary high-water mark . . . 
.”78  Justice Kennedy concluded that this standard “presumably provides a rough measure of the 
volume and regularity of flow.”79  In addition, if it is applied reasonably consistently, the Corps’ 
existing standard for tributaries “may well provide a reasonable measure of whether specific 
minor tributaries bear a sufficient nexus with other regulated waters to constitute ‘navigable 
waters’ under the Act.”80 Thus, Justice Kennedy’s opinion may reasonably be read as allowing 
the agencies to determine that a case-specific significant nexus determination is not necessary for 
tributaries possessing an ordinary high water mark, though it also indicates that he considers the 
presence of a significant nexus to be the appropriate test.   

The agencies have decided that, given Justice Kennedy’s indication that significant nexus 
is still the guiding standard, it is appropriate for purposes of this guidance to assert jurisdiction 
over tributaries utilizing the same standard Justice Kennedy articulated for adjacent wetlands.  In 
establishing the significant nexus standard, Justice Kennedy recognized that upstream adjacent 
wetlands can have significant effects on the physical, chemical and biological integrity of 
downstream waters covered under the CWA.  As a scientific matter, tributaries can, of course, 
have similar effects and it is reasonable to utilize the same standard for determining whether 
tributaries have a significant nexus to downstream covered waters.  Through rule making, the 
agencies will further consider whether the existence of an ordinary high-water mark alone is 
sufficient to establish a significant nexus to downstream traditional navigable or interstate 
waters, without requiring a site-specific analysis, as Justice Kennedy invites in his opinion. 

As noted in Section 3, it is reasonable to consider all tributaries in a watershed to be 
“similarly situated” for purposes of a significant nexus analysis because they contribute flow to 
the downstream traditional navigable water or interstate water and provide similar functions to 
those downstream waters.  Further, Section 3 demonstrated that it is reasonable to consider the 
region for significant nexus analysis to be a watershed defined by the area draining into the 
nearest traditional navigable water or interstate water through a single point of entry. 

The agencies’ identification of the presence of an ordinary high water mark as one of the 
factors for considering a water to be a tributary for purposes of this guidance is consistent with 
Justice Kennedy’s observation that an ordinary high water mark may be a reasonable measure of 
whether a tributary possesses a significant nexus with a traditional navigable water or interstate 
water. This observation, in turn, is supported by both the agencies’ scientific judgment in the 
past and the scientific literature of the present.  As the Corps stated in promulgating the 
definition of “waters of the U.S.” in 1977 to include tributaries, “[t]he regulation of activities that 
cause water pollution cannot rely on . . . artificial lines, however, but must focus on all waters 
that together form the entire aquatic ecosystem.  Water moves in hydrologic cycles, and the 
pollution of  . . . part of the aquatic ecosystem  . . . will affect the water quality of the other 
waters within that aquatic ecosystem.”81  For more than 30 years, EPA and the Corps have 
interpreted the CWA to protect “the many tributary streams that feed into the tidal and 
commercially navigable waters . . . since the destruction and/or degradation of the physical, 
chemical, and biological integrity of each of these waters is threatened by the unregulated 
discharge of dredged or fill material.”82  As Congress and the Supreme Court have recognized, 
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“‘[w]ater moves in hydrologic cycles and it is essential that discharge of pollutants be controlled 
at the source.’”83 

A large volume of scientific literature documents the important functions that tributaries, 
including headwater streams, provide to downstream waters.xviii  Headwater streams, which may 
include perennial, intermittent, and ephemeral streams, are the most common streams in the 
United States. Collectively, they determine the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of 
downstream waters, and provide many of the same functions as non-headwater streams.84 

Headwater streams reduce the amount of sediment delivered to downstream waters by trapping 
sediment from water and runoff.85   Headwater streams are responsible for most nutrient cycling 
and removal, and thus transforming and changing the amount of nutrients delivered to 
downstream waters.86  A close connection exists between the water quality of these streams and 
the water quality of downstream water bodies.87  Activities such as discharging a pollutant into 
one part of the tributary system are well-documented to affect other parts of the system, even 
when the point of discharge is far upstream from the navigable water that experiences the effect 
of the discharge.88  These streams provide habitat and protection for amphibians, fish, and other 
aquatic or semi-aquatic species living in and near the stream that may use the downstream 
waters, including traditional navigable waters, for other portions of their life stages.89  They also 
serve as migratory corridors for fish.  Tributaries can improve or maintain biological integrity 
and control water temperatures in the downstream waters.  Headwater streams serve as a source 
of food materials such as insects, larvae, and organic matter to nourish the fish, mammals, 
amphibians, and other organisms in downstream streams, rivers, and lakes.90  Disruptions in 
these biological processes affect the ecological functions of the entire downstream system.91 

Headwater streams help to maintain base flow in the larger rivers downstream, which is 
particularly important in times of drought.  At the same time, the network of headwater streams 
can regulate the flow of water into downstream waters, mitigating low flow and high flow 
extremes, reducing local and downstream flooding, and preventing excess erosion caused by 
flooding.92 

Section 5: Adjacent Wetlands 

Legal and Scientific Basis 

Adjacent Wetlands Covered under the Rapanos Plurality Standard  
 
Under the plurality standard, wetlands that have a continuous surface connection with a 

relatively permanent, non-navigable tributary are jurisdictional without the need for a significant 
nexus finding.  The plurality opinion indicates that “continuous surface connection” is a 
“physical connection requirement.”93  A continuous surface connection does not, however, 
require surface water to be continuously present between the wetland and the tributary. 

 
Adjacent Wetlands Covered under the Rapanos Kennedy Standard  
 
                                                 
xviii  For purposes of applying the current body of scientific literature to the questions created by the Rapanos  
Supreme Court decision, traditional navigable waters can be considered analogous to downstream waters. This is 
because the vast majority of traditional navigable waters are downstream of headwater streams. 
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Because the question in Rapanos was whether particular adjacent wetlands were “waters 
of the U.S.,” Justice Kennedy’s opinion focused on the standard for determining whether 
wetlands have the requisite nexus: 

With respect to wetlands, the rationale for Clean Water Act regulation is, as the 
Corps has recognized, that wetlands can perform critical functions related to the 
integrity of other waters—functions such as pollutant trapping, flood control, and 
runoff storage. 33 CFR § 320.4(b)(2). Accordingly, wetlands possess the requisite 
nexus, and thus come within the statutory phrase “navigable waters,” if the 
wetlands, either alone or in combination with similarly situated lands in the 
region, significantly affect the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of other 
covered waters more readily understood as “navigable.”  When, in contrast, 
wetlands’ effects on water quality are speculative or insubstantial, they fall 
outside the zone fairly encompassed by the statutory term “navigable waters.”94 

With respect to wetlands adjacent to traditional navigable waters, Justice Kennedy 
concluded that the agencies’ regulation “rests upon a reasonable inference of ecologic 
interconnection, and the assertion of jurisdiction for those wetlands is sustainable under the Act 
by showing adjacency alone.”95 The agencies will apply Justice Kennedy’s reasoning to 
conclude wetlands adjacent to non-wetland interstate waters are similarly jurisdictional without 
the need of demonstrating a significant nexus. 

For wetlands adjacent to tributaries that have a significant nexus to a traditional navigable 
water or interstate water, however, absent more specific regulations, the agencies must establish 
that the wetland alone or in combination with other adjacent wetlands in the watershed has a 
significant nexus to a traditional navigable water or interstate water.  Justice Kennedy provided 
some guidance as to the analysis necessary to conclude that a water has a sufficient nexus.  
Justice Kennedy’s concern was that neither the Corps nor the reviewing courts applied the proper 
legal standard.xix  Although evidence was presented in one of the consolidated cases that the 
wetlands were providing habitat, sediment trapping, nutrient recycling, flood peak diminution 
and reduction, and flow water augmentation, the Corps did not marshall this evidence to 
conclude that the wetlands had a significant nexus to downstream traditional navigable waters.96 

The administrative record in the other case noted the wetland’s connection to wildlife habitat and 
water quality and “also noted that the project would have a major, long-term detrimental effect 
on wetlands, flood retention, recreation and conservation and overall ecology.”97  Justice 
Kennedy did not indicate that this evidence was irrelevant, in fact, he concluded that “[m]uch the 
same evidence” previously analyzed by the Corps could establish a significant nexus with 
traditional navigable waters, particularly with additional evidence about the connection between 
the wetlands and the navigable water.98 

A hydrologic connection is neither determinative of nor required to show a significant 
nexus. Justice Kennedy noted that a “mere hydrologic connection should not suffice in all cases; 

xix Justice Kennedy thought that in both the consolidated cases before the Supreme Court, “the record contains 
evidence suggesting the possible existence of a significant nexus according to the principles outlined above.  Thus 
the end result in these cases and many others to be considered by the Corps may be the same as that suggested by the 
dissent, namely, that the Corps' assertion of jurisdiction is valid.”  547 U.S. at 783. 
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the connection may be too insubstantial for the hydrologic linkage to establish the required nexus 
with navigable waters as traditionally understood.”99  On the other hand, Justice Kennedy was 
also clear that a hydrologic connection between a wetland and a tributary is not required to 
establish a significant nexus:  “Given the role wetlands play in pollutant filtering, flood control, 
and runoff storage, it may well be the absence of hydrologic connection (in the sense of 
interchange of waters) that shows the wetlands’ significance for the aquatic system.”100 

Section 6: Other Waters 

Legal and Scientific Basis 

  Other waters are those for which jurisdiction was previously asserted under section 
(a)(3) of the Corps’ regulations, which provide for CWA jurisdiction over “[a]ll other waters . . . 
the use, degradation, or destruction of which could affect interstate or foreign commerce. . . .”  
These include isolated, non-navigable intrastate waters.  This provision of the regulations was 
the focus of the SWANCC decision. In that case, the Court was considering the validity of the 
Corps’ assertion of jurisdiction over ponds and mudflats under (a)(3).  In rejecting the assertion 
of jurisdiction in that case, the Court held that “[i]t was the significant nexus between the 
wetlands and ‘navigable waters’ that informed our reading of the CWA in Riverside Bayview 
Homes.”101  Justice Kennedy further explained the SWANCC decision – and his understanding of 
when EPA and the Corps could assert jurisdiction over “other waters” – in his concurring 
opinion in Rapanos: “In Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook Cty. v. Army Corps of Engineers, 
531 U.S. 159 (2001) (SWANCC), the Court held, under the circumstances presented there, that to 
constitute ‘navigable waters’ under the Act, a water or wetland must possess a ‘significant 
nexus’ to waters that are or were navigable in fact or that could reasonably be so made.”102 

Because the Court in SWANCC was considering the validity of the Corps’ assertion of 
jurisdiction over ponds and mudflats under (a)(3) of the Corps’ regulations, it is reasonable to 
conclude that Justice Kennedy intends his significant nexus standard to apply to the “other 
waters” of this regulation. 

An “other water” is jurisdictional only if it both has a significant nexus to a traditional 
navigable water or interstate water and meets the regulatory definition.  One of the ways of 
demonstrating that a water is one “the use, degradation or destruction of which could affect 
interstate or foreign commerce” is through demonstration that the water has a significant nexus 
to a traditional navigable water or interstate water.  If a water meets Justice Kennedy’s 
significant nexus standard, the degradation or destruction of that water could harm the traditional 
navigable water or interstate water and therefore could affect interstate or foreign commerce. 

While all adjacent wetlands are reasonably proximate to a jurisdictional water by 
regulation and, therefore, “similarly situated,” the other waters provision of the regulations 
encompasses a wide-range of waters.  For purposes of this guidance, the agencies have decided 
that it is appropriate to divide other waters into two classes, those that are physically proximate 
to traditional navigable or interstate waters or their tributaries, and those that are not.  For the 
first group, it is reasonable to treat these in much the same manner as adjacent wetlands, since 
they stand in the same relationship to and serve many of the same functions as such wetlands 
with respect to the aquatic systems that they are near.  For instance, physically proximate waters 
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can function to retain floodwaters, recharge groundwater, provide habitat for waterfowl and other 
species, and process and retain nutrients and pollutants that may otherwise enter tributaries; they 
may even be connected to a river during high floods and provide a protected habitat for eggs and 
young of many fish species, as well as provide refuge for spawning for some species.103 

For the reasons articulated in Section 3 of this guidance, the agencies will interpret “in 
the region” for such proximate other waters to be the watershed boundary defined by the 
geographic area that drains to the nearest downstream traditional navigable or interstate water 
through a single point of entry. 

 In applying the significant nexus standard to such waters, it is important to note that 
Justice Kennedy concluded that a water may have a significant nexus even if it does not have a 
hydrologic connection to the traditional navigable water or interstate water: “Given the role 
wetlands play in pollutant filtering, flood control, and runoff storage, it may well be the absence 
of a hydrologic connection (in the sense of interchange of waters) that shows the wetlands’ 
significance for the aquatic system.”104  This statement applies equally to proximate other waters.  
Thus, effects that should be considered include circumstances where proximate other waters trap 
pollutants such as nutrients or sediment, for example, or where they hold precipitation or snow 
melt, thereby reducing contamination or flooding of traditional navigable or interstate waters.   

In contrast, applying the significant nexus standard to geographically isolated other 
waters is more challenging.  Justice Kennedy recognized that physical proximity can be an 
important factor in the analysis of significant nexus.xx  In light of the challenges in applying the 
significant nexus standard to geographically isolated other waters, the agencies have identified 
physical proximity as an important factor when conducting a significant nexus analysis for such 
waters. 

The agencies believe that the significant nexus test articulated by Justice Kennedy is the 
right theoretical approach for assessing all other waters, isolated and proximate, but because of 
the greater practical difficulty of applying this standard to geographically isolated other waters, 
we are directing field staff to continue for now the current practice of referring determinations 
for non-physically proximate other waters to their respective Headquarters and obtaining formal 
project-specific approval before asserting or denying jurisdiction.  Because such waters are often 
geographically dispersed and isolated from each other, as well as from other jurisdictional 
waters, it is also not clear at this time how such waters should be grouped for purposes of 
considering them “similarly situated” and “in the region.”  For this reason, until the agencies are 
able to further consider this issue through rule making, significant nexus determination will 
generally evaluate such waters individually, unless there is a compelling scientific basis for 
treating a group of such waters as similarly situated waters in the same region. In accordance 
with the decision in SWANCC, consideration of use by migratory species is not relevant to the 
significant nexus determination for such waters.  

                                                 
xx "Through regulations or adjudication, the Corps may choose to identify categories of tributaries that, due to their 
volume of flow (either annually or on average), their proximity to navigable waters, or other relevant considerations, 
are significant enough that wetlands adjacent to them are likely, in the majority of cases, to perform important 
functions for an aquatic system incorporating navigable waters.”  547 U.S. at 780. 
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ENDNOTES 

1 The Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, Pub. L. No. 92-500, 86 Stat. 816.  The 1972 
legislation extensively amended the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (FWPCA), which was originally enacted in 
1948.  Further amendments to the FWPCA enacted in 1977 changed the popular name of the statute to the “Clean 
Water Act.” See Pub. L. No. 95-217, 91 Stat. 1566; 33 U.S.C. 1251 note. The current FWPCA is codified at 33 
U.S.C. §§ 1251-1387.  This guidance will refer to provisions of the current act by relevant “CWA section.”  

2 531 U.S. 159 (2001). 

3 Carabell v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 391 F.3d 704 (6th Cir. 2004); United States v. Rapanos, 376 F.3d 629 (6th
 

Cir. 2004).  After certiorari was granted, these cases were consolidated, and the resulting opinion cited as Rapanos v. 

United States, 547 U.S. 715 (2006). 

4 CWA section 101(a). 

5 While section 311 uses the phrase "navigable waters of the United States," EPA has interpreted it to have the same
 
breadth as the phrase "navigable waters" used elsewhere in section 311, and in other sections of the CWA. See
 
United States v. Texas Pipe Line Co., 611 F.2d 345, 347 (10th Cir. 1979); United States v. Ashland Oil & Transp.
 
Co., 504 F.2d 1317, 1324-25 (6th Cir. 1974).  In 2002, EPA revised its regulatory definition of “waters of the United
 
States” in 40 C.F.R. part 112 to ensure that the actual language of the rule was consistent with the regulatory 

language of other CWA programs. Oil Pollution & Response; Non –Transportation-Related Onshore & Offshore 

Facilities, 67 Fed. Reg. 47,042 (July 17, 2002).  A district court vacated the rule for failure to comply with the 

Administrative Procedure Act, and reinstated the prior regulatory language. American Petroleum Ins. v. Johnson, 

541 F.Supp. 2d 165 (D. D.C. 2008).  However, EPA interprets "navigable waters of the United States" in CWA 

section 311(b), in the pre-2002 regulations, and in the 2002 rule to have the same meaning as "navigable waters" in
 
CWA section 502(7). 

6 For example, the CWA section 402 program regulates discharges of pollutants from “point sources” to waters of
 
the United States, whether these pollutants reach jurisdictional waters directly or indirectly.  The plurality opinion in
 
Rapanos noted that “there is no reason to suppose that our construction today significantly affects the enforcement 

of §1342. . . .  The Act does not forbid the ‘addition of any pollutant directly to navigable waters from any point
 
source,’ but rather the ‘addition of any pollutant to navigable waters.’”  547 U.S. at 743.  Clean Water Act section 

311(b)(1) provides: "[I]t is the policy of the United States that there should be no discharges of oil or hazardous 

substances into or upon the navigable waters of the United States [or] adjoining shorelines . . . or which may affect 

natural resources belonging to, appertaining to, or under the exclusive management authority of the United States."
 
(Emphasis added.) "Discharge" is broadly defined in CWA section 311(a)(2) to include "any spilling, leaking,
 
pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying or dumping," with certain enumerated exceptions, and is not limited to point
 
source discharges. 

7 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a)(8); 40 C.F.R. § 230.3(s); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (“waters of the U.S.”).
 
8 CWA section 404(f); 40 C.F.R. § 232.3; 33 C.F.R. § 323.4. 

9 CWA section 402(l)(1) ("The Administrator shall not require a permit under this section for discharges composed 

entirely of return flows from irrigated agriculture. . . .”); CWA section 502(14)("[The] term [point source] does not
 
include agricultural stormwater discharges and return flows from irrigated agriculture."); 40 C.F.R. § 122.3(f)
 
(return flows from irrigated agriculture are excluded from the NPDES program); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (The term "point
 
source" "does not include return flows from irrigated agriculture or agricultural storm water runoff.").

10 See, e.g., 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a)(1); 40 C.F.R. § 230.3(s)(1); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (“waters of the U.S.”(a)); 40 C.F.R.
 
§ 110.1 (“navigable waters” (a)).

11 Rivers and Harbors Appropriation Act of 1899, § 10, 33 U.S.C. § 403.
 
12 See, e.g., 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a)(2); 40 C.F.R. § 230.3(s)(2); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (“waters of the U.S.”(b)), 40 C.F.R.
 
§110.1 (“navigable waters” (b)).

13 Water Pollution Control Act of 1948, § 10(e), 62 Stat. 1155, 1161. 

14 Field staff generally should use the Strahler method. In Strahler’s method, a first-order stream has no tributaries,
 
a second-order stream is formed by the joining of any two first-order streams, and a third order stream is formed by 

the junction of any two second-order streams.  Arthur N. Strahler, "Quantitative Analysis of Watershed 

Geomorphology," American Geophysical Union Transactions 38 (1957): 913-920. 

15 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a)(5); 40 C.F.R. § 230.3(s)(5); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (“waters of the U.S.”(e)).
 
16 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a)(7); 40 C.F.R. § 230.3(s)(7); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (“waters of the U.S.”(e)).
 
17 547 U.S. at 759. 
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THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

The Honorable Eugene Dodaro 
Comptroller General 
Government Accountability Office 
Washington, D.C. 20548 

Dear Mr. Dodaro: 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20460 

SEP 1 5 2016 

lam replying to alleged violations of the Antideficiency Act, as required by section 145.8 of the Office 
of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-II (2015). 

In an opinion dated December 14,2015, the Government Accountability Office concluded that the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency violated 31 U.S.C. § 1341 by using certain social media platforms to 
educate the public regarding the agency's Clean Water Rule. GAO alleged that the EPA's use of the 
social media platform "Thunderclap" constituted "covert propaganda" in violation of a statutory 
prohibition on using appropriated funds for pUblicity or propaganda purposes. GAO also alleged that 
inclusion of two links to external websites in an EPA blog post violated a statutory prohibition on using 
appropriated funds for indirect or "grassroots" lobbying. 

The alleged Antideficiency Act violation turns on a disputed question oflaw. The EPA's Office of 
General Counsel has thoroughly examined the matter and determined that the agency's efforts to educate 
the American public regarding the EPA's mission to protect clean water did not violate the 
Antideficiency Act. In a letter to GAO dated August 7,2015, the EPA General Counsel, Avi Garbow, 
articulated the legal basis for the EPA's determination. The GAO opinion includes no case that the EPA 
had not already considered except a line of inapposite First Amendment cases. Instead, GAO adopts new 
analytical approaches that are inconsistent with its prior opinions. 

The violation of31 U.S.C. § 1341 is alleged to have occurred on September 29,2014, and April 7, 2015, 
in the Environmental Programs and Management account, Treasury Account Symbol 06816/170108. 

Thunderclap 
GAO alleged that the EPA's use of the social media platform Thunderclap constituted "covert 
propaganda" in violation of a statutory prohibition on using appropriated funds for publicity or 
propaganda purposes. The Comptroller General "decisions have defined covert propaganda as material 
such as editorials or other articles prepared by an agency or its contractors at the behest of the agency 
and circulated as the ostensible position of parties outside the agency." B-301022 at 4, Mar 10,2004. 
Notably, here GAO did not find "covert propaganda" in the EPA's communications with 980 people 
who signed up for the Thunderclap website to post a message on their social media accounts at an 
appointed time ("Thunderclap supporters"). GAO acknowledges that the EPA's Thunderclap campaign 
webpage was "visibly attributed to the EPA as it displayed the agency's profile photo and, under the 
title, 'by U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. '" Yet GAO finds that EPA violated the Antideficiency 
Act because the message that the Thunderclap supporters ultimately chose to post on their own social 
media accounts was not attributed to the EPA. 

This paper is printed with vegetable-oil-based inks and is iOO-percent postconsumer recycled material, chlorine-free-processed and recyclable. 



Anyone who signed up for the Thunderclap campaign had the option of using the Thunderclap campaign 
message ("EPA message") or customizing the message. The only part of the message that could not be 
edited was the link to the EPA's website. This means that anyone of the 980 people who signed up for 
the EPA's Thunderclap campaign - or even all of them - could have changed the message that was 
posted to their social media accounts to say anything. Specifically, in order to become a Thunderclap 
supporter, that person had to (1) see a tweet asking that they join the campaign; (2) navigate to the 
Thunderclap page, read the description of the campaign and choose to participate; (3) read a pop-up 
page with a draft social media message that they were explicitly encouraged to edit and customize; and 
(4) affirmatively navigate to the social media site of their choice and authorize the posting of the 
message. Therefore, the Thunderclap supporters were not mere "conduits of EPA's message," as GAO 
alleges, but rather recipients of information that they could choose to reject, customize or formally 
adopt. 

GAO asserts that its decision regarding the EPA's use of Thunderclap is distinguishable from its past 
cases, but the only difference is that GAO uses two entirely different analytical frameworks that cannot 
be reconciled. The EPA's use of Thunderclap is directly analogous to another case in which GAO found 
that the Department of Defense did not violate the publicity or propaganda prohibition. B-316443 at 11, 
July 21, 2009. In that case, DOD created an outreach program for retired military officers who served as 
media analysts to which DOD provided talking points and other information. GAO found that because 
there was no evidence that DOD attempted to conceal its role in influencing the media analysts' views, 
and there was no evidence that DOD contracted with or otherwise paid the analysts for their positive 
commentary, DOD did not violate the publicity or propaganda prohibition. Applying the framework 
from the DOD decision to the EPA's situation, there should be no difference in results. As GAO 
explicitly found here, there is no evidence that the EPA attempted to conceal its role in the creation of 
the Thunderclap and there is no evidence or allegation that the EPA contracted with or paid the 
Thunderclap supporters to post a message on their social media accounts. 

Furthermore, the publicity or propaganda prohibition provides that '~[n]o part of any appropriation" shall 
be used for pUblicity or propaganda, and indeed no part of any appropriation was used for the alleged 
violation here. GAO explicitly found that the Thunderclap page the EPA created "was visibly attributed 
to EPA, as it displayed the agency's profile, photo and under the title, 'by U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency.'" Like DOD's multi-million dollar outreach campaign to retired military offices who 
served as media analysts, which GAO found permissible, theEPA's expenditure of nominal amounts 
reaching out to the 980 Thunderclap supporters was permissible. And because the EPA had no control 
over the message that the Thunderclap supporters might ultimately post on their own time and at their 
own expense - or indeed whether a message would be posted at all had less than a minimum number of 
500 participants signed up - there is no point in time at which the EPA used appropriated funds 
impermissibly. 

Hyperlinks 
GAO alleged that inclusion of two links to external websites in an EPA blog post violated a statutory 
prohibition on using appropriated funds for indirect or "grassroots" lobbying. The EPA blog post 
included hyperlinks to (1) an article on the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC)'s website about 
how brewers need a reliable supply of clean water for their products and (2) a July 2010 article on 
Surfrider's website about why surfers get sicker than beachgoers. GAO concluded that the EPA's use of 
these hyperlinks constituted an express appeal to the public to contact Congress in opposition to pending 
legislation that would prevent implementation of the Clean Water Rule because the external webpages 
also included "action" buttons that linked to other pages on the external web sites where readers were 
urged to contact Congress in connection with the Clean Water Rule legislation. 



GAO has previously always required a clear appeal by an agency to find a violation. B-325248, Sept. 9, 
2014 ("The prohibition is violated where there is evidence of a clear appeal by an agency to the public to 
contact Members of Congress in support of, or in opposition to, pending legislation."). Here, the EPA's 
blog post did not contain any appeal to the public to contact Congress. In order to get to such an appeal, 
a member of the public would need to follow the hyperlink to another entity's webpage and then view 
the banner information on the side to find buttons to click on to navigate to pages about Congress. 

GAO concedes that not "every hyperlink must constitute an endorsement of the linked webpage" and in 
doing so establishes an unworkable "I know it when I see it" approach rather than relying on its time­
tested analysis of whether (1) there is pending legislation and (2) a clear appeal by an agency to the 
public to contact members of Congress in support, or in opposition to that legislation. Under this new 
context-based approach, GAO's analysis fundamentally turns on the EPA's decision to link to 
environmental groups' websites during a controversial rulemaking. This is inconsistent with GAO's 
long history of narrowly interpreting the grassroots lobbying prohibition to avoid constitutional 
concerns. 

.. 
In an attempt to legitimize this new, context-based approach, GAO cites to four First Amendment free 
speech cases. But the question of whether a governmental entity was engaging in "government speech" 
or creating a public forum for purposes of First Amendment jurisprudence is not relevant to the critical 
question of whether the EPA made a "clear appeal" to the public to contact Congress in connection with 
any pending legislation when it included hyperlinks to articles on Surf rider and NRDC's websites. 

With respect to the NRDC website in particular, as GAO acknowledges, the page that the EPA linked to 
did not mention Congress or legislation at all, but described the NRDC's partnership with breweries, 
discussed the importance of the regulations, and called for enforcement of the Clean Water Act. The 
action button on that page merely stated "Add your voice and help make great beer." Thus, in order to 
view a "clear appeal," the reader would have needed to first click the link on the EPA blog and then 
click another link on the NRDC webpage. This is too attenuated to constitute a "clear appeal" by an 
agency under GAO's prior opinions. To find that agencies cannot link to legitimate articles that educate 
the public because there may be a link on that page which, if a reader chose to activate it, would take 
them to another page (that the agency had not directly linked to) containing an appeal to contact 
Congress is not workable. 

Furthermore, with respect to the Surfrider website, neither the EPA (nor GAO) can find any evidence 
that there was any reference to taking action or contacting Congress on Surfrider's website at the time of 
the EPA's obligation of funds - i.e., when EPA posted its blog with the hyperlink. To find, as GAO 
does, that an agency is responsible for the future content of a webpage it links to "rather than just the 
message as it may have existed at a single point in time" is unworkable as a practical matter and 
unreasonable as a matter of law. The content on webpages changes daily. Further, the relevant obligation 
of funds in this case occurs when a federal employee takes action to link to the external website. If 
content is added to another entity's website in the future, then it is unclear at what point in time GAO 
believes appropriated funds would be obligated for the purposes of grassroots lobbying in violation of 
the Antideficiency Act. 

Under GAO's analysis, individual government employees could be held personally responsible and 
administratively disciplined for linking to pages that do not contain appeals by other entities to contact 
Congress at the time they take their action. Even if an agency employee were to spend every moment at 
work monitoring the hyperlinked entity's website, an appeal to contact Congress could be added after 
the employee went home at night that would immediately cause them to be in violation of the 



Antideficiency Act. In other words, an agency could obligate appropriated funds to link to a website 
perfectly legitimately, and, at some point in the future, that prior legitimate obligation of funds could 
suddenly become an Antideficiency Act violation without any further action or obligation of funds by 
the agency. 

In sum, the internet is a hive of interconnected and constantly changing information. To find that federal 
agencies are responsible not only for the page they link to but also for (1) subsequent links from that 
external site to other pages and (2) any changes made to that page after they link to it is not supported by 
GAO's prior case law or any other case law on the Antideficiency Act. Because no violation has 
occurred, no disciplinary action has been taken and no further steps are required on the part of the EPA. 

Identical reports are being submitted to the President, the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the 
House of Representatives in accordance with the process set forth in OMB Circular A-II. 

Sincerely, 































 

 

 

 

 

 
October 1, 2014 

 

The Honorable Gina McCarthy 

Administrator  

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency  

1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  

Washington, D.C. 20460  

 

Maj. Gen. John Peabody 

Deputy Commanding General  

Civil and Emergency Operations 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers  

Attn: CECW-CO-R 441 G Street, NW  

Washington, D.C. 20314-1000 

 
Re: Definition of “Waters of the United States” Under the Clean Water Act 1 

Dear Administrator McCarthy and Major General Peabody: 

The Office of Advocacy of the U.S. Small Business Administration (Advocacy) submits 

these comments regarding the proposed rule to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (the Corps) 

and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA, and together, “the agencies”). Advocacy 

believes that EPA and the Corps have improperly certified the proposed rule under the 

Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA) because it would have direct, significant effects on small 

businesses. Advocacy recommends that the agencies withdraw the rule and that the EPA 

conduct a Small Business Advocacy Review panel before proceeding any further with this 

rulemaking. 

 

The Office of Advocacy and the Regulatory Flexibility Act 

Advocacy was established pursuant to Pub. L. 94-305 to represent the views of small 

entities before federal agencies and Congress.  Advocacy is an independent office within 

SBA, so our views do not necessarily reflect those of SBA or the Administration.  The 

RFA, as amended by the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act 

(SBREFA),
2
 requires small entities to be considered in the federal rulemaking process.  

The RFA requires federal agencies to consider the impact of their proposed rules on small 

businesses. When a rule is expected to have a significant economic impact on a 

substantial number of small entities, agencies must evaluate the impact, consider less 

                                                 
1
 Definition of Waters of the United States Under the Clean Water Act, 79 Fed. Reg. 22188 (April 21, 2014). 

2
 Pub. L. 104-121, Title II, 110 Stat. 857 (1996) (codified in various sections of 5 U.S.C. §601 et seq.). 
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burdensome alternatives, and in the case of EPA, convene a Small Business Advocacy 

Review panel.
3
 The RFA directs Advocacy to monitor agency compliance with the RFA. 

To this end, Advocacy may file written comments reflecting small business concerns 

about the impact of a rulemaking.
4
 Because of small business concerns with the proposed 

rule, Advocacy held a roundtable on July 21, 2014 and has heard from numerous small 

entities in many industries. 

Background 

The Clean Water Act (CWA) was enacted in 1972 to “restore and maintain the chemical, 

physical and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”
5
 The CWA accomplishes this 

by eliminating the “discharge of pollutants into the navigable waters.”
6
 The CWA defines 

“navigable waters” as “the waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.”
7
 

Existing regulations currently define “waters of the United States” as traditional 

navigable waters, interstate waters, all other waters that could affect interstate or foreign 

commerce, impoundments of waters of the United States, tributaries, the territorial seas, 

and adjacent wetlands.
8
  

 

The CWA requires a permit in order to discharge pollutants, dredged, or fill materials 

into any body of water deemed to be a “water of the United States.”
9
 The EPA generally 

administers these permits, but EPA and the Corps jointly administer and enforce certain 

permit programs under the Act.
10

  

 

The extent of the Act’s jurisdiction has been the subject of much litigation and regulatory 

action, including three Supreme Court decisions. Actions of the Court have expanded and 

contracted the definition, especially regarding wetlands and smaller bodies of water. 

 In 1985, the Supreme Court determined that adjacent wetlands may be included in 

the regulatory definition of “waters of the United States.”
11

  

 In 2001, the Court held that migratory birds’ use of isolated “nonnavigable” 

intrastate ponds was not sufficient cause to extend federal jurisdiction under the 

CWA.
12

  

 In 2006, the Supreme Court considered whether wetlands near ditches or man-

made drains that eventually empty into traditional navigable waters were 

                                                 
3
 5 U.S.C. § 603, 605. 

4
 The Small Business Jobs Act of 2010 (Pub. L. 111-240 § 1601) also requires agencies to give every 

appropriate consideration to Advocacy’s written comments on a proposed rule. This response must be 

included in an explanation or discussion accompanying the final rule’s publication in the Federal Register 

unless the agency certifies that the public interest is not served by doing so. 
5
 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) (1972). 

6
 Id. at § 1251(a)(1). 

7
 Id. at § 1362(7). 

8
 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a); 40 C.F.R. §230.3(s). 

9
33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342, 1344.  

10
 Id. at § 1344. 

11
 United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, 474 U.S. 121, 134-135 (1985). 

12
 Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (SWANCC), 531 U.S. 

159, 174 (2001). 
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considered “waters of the United States.”
13

 Justice Scalia, writing for the plurality, 

determined that “only those wetlands with a continuous surface connection to 

bodies that are ‘waters of the United States’ [ . . . ] are ‘adjacent to’ such waters 

and covered by the Act.”
14

 Justice Kennedy concurred in the judgment, but 

concluded that the Corps must establish the existence of a “significant nexus” 

when it asserted jurisdiction over wetlands adjacent to non-navigable tributaries.
15

  

 

The courts have left much uncertainty regarding what constitutes a “water of the United 

States.” Such uncertainty has made it difficult for small entities to know which waters are 

subject to jurisdiction and CWA permitting.  

 

To address this uncertainty, the EPA and Corps proposed this rule which would revise the 

regulatory definition of “waters of the United States” and would apply to all sections of 

the Clean Water Act. The proposed rule defines “waters of the United States” within the 

framework of the CWA as the following seven categories:  

 All waters which are currently used, were used in the past, or may be 

susceptible to use in interstate or foreign commerce, including all waters 

which are subject to the ebb and flow of the tide;  

 All interstate waters, including interstate wetlands;  

 The territorial seas;  

 All impoundments of a traditional navigable water, interstate water, the 

territorial seas or a tributary;  

 All tributaries of a traditional navigable water, interstate water, the 

territorial seas or impoundment;  

 All waters, including wetlands, adjacent to a traditional navigable water, 

interstate water, the territorial seas, impoundment or tributary; and 

 On a case-specific basis, other waters, including wetlands, provided that 

those waters alone, or in combination with other similarly situated waters, 

including wetlands, located in the same region, have a significant nexus to 

a traditional navigable water, interstate water or the territorial seas.
16

 

The proposed rule defines several terms for the first time: “neighboring,” “riparian area,” 

“floodplain,” “tributary,” and “significant nexus”; and it clarifies the terms, “adjacent” 

and “wetlands.”
 17

 The rule leaves the regulatory definitions of “traditional navigable 

waters,” “interstate waters,” “the territorial seas,” and “impoundments” unchanged.
18

 

 

Regulatory Flexibility Act Requirements 

The RFA states that “[w]henever an agency is required by section 553 of this title, or any 

other law, to publish general notice of proposed rulemaking for any proposed rule, or 

                                                 
13

 Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715, 729 (2006). 
14

 Id. at 742. 
15

 Id. at 779 (Kennedy, J., concurring). 
16

 79 Fed. Reg. at 22,198. 
17

 See Id. at 22,263, for the complete definitions of “adjacent,” “neighboring,” “riparian area,” “floodplain,” 

“tributary,” “wetlands,” and “significant nexus.” 
18

 Id. 
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publishes a notice of proposed rulemaking for an interpretative rule involving the internal 

revenue laws of the United States, the agency shall prepare and make available for public 

comment an initial regulatory flexibility analysis [IRFA]. Such analysis shall describe the 

impact of the proposed rule on small entities.”
19

  

 

Under Section 609(b) of the RFA, EPA is required to conduct small business advocacy 

review panels, often referred to as SBREFA panels, when it is unable to certify that a rule 

will not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small businesses. 

SBREFA panels consist of representatives of the rulemaking agency, the Office of 

Management and Budget’s Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA), and the 

Chief Counsel for Advocacy. SBREFA panels give small entity representatives (SERs) a 

chance to understand an upcoming proposed rule and provide meaningful input to help 

the agency comply with the RFA. SERs help the panel understand the ramifications of 

the proposed rule and significant alternatives to it. 

 

Section 605(b) of the RFA allows an agency to certify that a rule will not have a 

significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities in lieu of preparing 

an IRFA.
20

 When certifying, the agency must provide a factual basis for the 

certification.
21

 In the current case, the agencies have certified that revising the definition 

of “waters of the United States” will not have a significant economic impact on a 

substantial number of small businesses. 

 

The Proposed Rule Has Been Certified in Error 

Advocacy believes that the agencies have improperly certified this rule. Advocacy, and 

the small businesses we have spoken to, believe that  

 The agencies used an incorrect baseline for determining their obligations under 

the RFA;  

 The rule imposes costs directly on small businesses; and  

 The rule will have a significant economic impact on small businesses. 

 

A. The Agencies Use the Incorrect Baseline for its Regulatory Flexibility Act 

Certification 

 

Advocacy believes that the agencies used the wrong baseline for their RFA certification. 

In certifying the rule, the agencies state that, “This proposed rule is narrower than that 

under the existing regulations…fewer waters will be subject to the CWA under the 

proposed rule than are subject to regulation under the existing regulations.”
22

 On this 

                                                 
19

 5 U.S.C. §603. 
20

 5 U.S.C. §605. 
21

 Id.  
22

 Id.  
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basis the agencies conclude that, “This action will not affect small entities to a greater 

degree than the existing regulations.”
23

 

The “existing regulations” that the agencies refer to in this reasoning is the 1986 rule 

defining the scope of waters of the United States. Compared to the 1986 definition, the 

proposed changes represent a narrowing of coverage. However, in the economic analysis 

accompanying the rule, the agencies assess the regulation vis-à-vis current practice and 

determine that the rule increases the CWA’s jurisdiction by approximately 3 percent.
24

 

The agencies’ certification and economic analysis contradict each other.  

Advocacy believes that the proper baseline from which to assess the rule’s impact is 

current practice. Guidance from the Office of Management and Budget’s Office of 

Information and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA) substantiates this view. OIRA’s Circular A-4 

provides guidance to federal agencies on the development of regulatory analysis.
25

  It 

states that “The baseline should be the best assessment of the way the world would look 

absent the proposed action.”
26

 The 1986 regulation has been abrogated by several 

Supreme Court cases and is no longer in use.
27

 The Corps and EPA also issued a 

guidance document in 2008 which sought to bring jurisdictional determinations in line 

with these Supreme Court cases.
28

 The 1986 regulation does not represent the current 

method for determining jurisdiction and has not served that purpose for more than 

thirteen years. Using an obsolete baseline improperly diminishes the effects of this rule. 

Advocacy agrees with the agencies’ economic analysis that uses current practice as the 

appropriate baseline for evaluating the rule. 

 

B. The Rule Imposes Costs Directly on Small Businesses 

The second basis for the certification appears to be the agencies’ position that the impact 

on small businesses will be indirect, hence not requiring an initial regulatory flexibility 

analysis or a SBAR panel.
29

 EPA cites Mid-Tex Electric Cooperative, Inc., v. Federal 

Energy Regulatory Commission
30

 and American Trucking Associations, Inc., v. EPA
31

 in 

support of their certification.
32

 Advocacy believes that the agencies’ reliance on Mid-Tex 

and American Trucking is misplaced because the proposed rule will have direct effects on 

small businesses.  

                                                 
23

 Id.  
24

 Id. 
25

 Office of Management and Budget, Circular A-4, http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars a004 a-

4/#e (September 17, 2003). 
26

 Id.  
27

 See Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (SWANCC), 531 

U.S. 159, 174 (2001); Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715, 729 (2006). 
28

 Clean Water Act Jurisdiction Following the U.S. Supreme Court's Decision in Rapanos v. United 

States and Carabell  v. United States, December 2, 2008, 

http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/guidance/wetlands/CWAwaters.cfm . 
29

 79 Fed. Reg. at 22,220. 
30

 Mid-Tex Electric Cooperative, Inc. v. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), 773 F.2d 327, 

342 (D.C. Cir. 1985). 
31

 American Trucking Associations v. EPA, 175 F.3d 1027 (D.C. Cir. 1999). 
32

 79 Fed. Reg. at 22,220.  

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_a004_a-4/#e
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_a004_a-4/#e
http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/guidance/wetlands/upload/2008_12_3_wetlands_CWA_Jurisdiction_Following_Rapanos120208.pdf
http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/guidance/wetlands/upload/2008_12_3_wetlands_CWA_Jurisdiction_Following_Rapanos120208.pdf
http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/guidance/wetlands/CWAwaters.cfm
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In Mid-Tex,
33

 the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) issued regulations 

instructing generating utilities how to include costs of construction work in their rates. 

Although the generating utilities were large businesses, their customers included small 

entities, to whom they may or may not have been able to pass on these costs through any 

rate changes.
34

 The issue raised in this case was whether the agency had improperly 

certified the rule because it failed to consider the impact on the small business customers.  

The court concluded that an agency is required to file an IRFA only in cases where a 

regulation directly affects small businesses;
35

 if it does not, an agency may properly 

certify.  

 

In Mid-Tex, the proposed regulation’s applicability to small businesses is akin to the 

FERC regulation’s applicability to the generating utilities themselves, not their 

customers, as EPA seems to believe.  Generating utilities were an intervening actor 

between the regulatory agency and the small business customers; the utilities had a 

substantial amount of discretion as to whether they would pass on their construction costs 

to their small entity customers and, if so, how much of those costs they would pass on.   

 

Such is not the case with this rule.  First, there is no intervening regulated actor. In Mid-

Tex, the generating utilities were the entities regulated and bound by FERC guidelines, 

and it was not certain that they would pass on the costs of the new guidelines to their 

small business customers. In the current case, the Clean Water Act and the revised 

definition proposed in this rule directly determine permitting requirements and other 

obligations. It is unquestionable that small businesses will continue to seek permits under 

the Clean Water Act. Therefore they will be subject to the application of the proposed 

definition and the impacts arising from its application.  

 

Second, the rule defines the scope of jurisdiction of the Clean Water Act without any 

discretion left to any entity or intermediary. The rule does not, for example, set a goal for 

which types or how many waters must be included in jurisdiction, leaving the Corps or 

states to determine the exact definition of waters of the United States in particular 

instances. This rule establishes the definition and all small entities are bound by it. 

 

In American Trucking,
36

 the EPA’s certification of rules to establish a primary national 

ambient air quality standard (NAAQS) for ozone was challenged.  The basis of the EPA’s 

certification was that the NAAQS regulated small entities indirectly through state 

implementation plans. The rules gave states broad discretion to determine how to achieve 

compliance with the NAAQS.
37

 The rules required EPA to approve any state plan that 

met the standards; it could not reject a plan based upon its view of the wisdom of a state’s 

choices.
38

 Under these circumstances, the court concluded that EPA had properly 

                                                 
33

 773 F.2d at 342.  
34

 Id. The generating utilities were not required to pass on the rate increases and in some cases were limited 

by state law in how much of the rate increase could be passed on to customers.  
35

 Id. 
36

 175 F.3d 1027 (D.C. Cir. 1999).  
37

 Id.  
38

 Id. at 1044. 
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certified because any impacts to small entities would flow from the individual states’ 

actions and thus be indirect.
39

 

 

EPA’s proposed rule is distinguishable from the regulations at issue in American 

Trucking. The states were intervening actors with broad discretion regarding how to 

implement the federal standards. The EPA rules only told the states what the goal was; 

the states were left to develop the plans that would implement those goals and thereby 

impose impacts on small businesses.
40

 In the current case, the agencies are not defining a 

goal nor are they authorizing any third party to determine the means and methods for 

reaching the goal.  To the contrary, the agencies are defining the term governing the 

applicability of their own CWA programs.  A change in the scope of the definition of 

“waters of the United States” necessarily leads to an increase in the scope and impact of 

the CWA since the programs thereunder only apply to waters that fall within this 

definition. The agencies, not a third party, determine whether a given body of water is 

within the jurisdiction of the requirements of the Clean Water Act and therefore subject 

to it. 

 

Small businesses have also provided specific examples of how this rule will directly 

impact them. For example, during a May hearing of the U.S. House of Representatives 

Committee on Small Business, Jack Field of the Lazy JF Cattle Co.  testified that the rule 

would essentially eliminate an exemption for normal farming practices that he relies upon 

to do things such as building a fence to control his grazing cattle.
41

 The proposed rule 

would eliminate the exemption for farmers whose actions do not comply with Natural 

Resources Conservation Services standards.
42

 

    

Small entities in the utility industry have expressed that this proposed rule could 

eliminate the advantages of Nationwide Permit 12 – Utility Line Projects (NWP 12). 

Utility companies use NWP 12 to construct and maintain roads that provide access to the 

utility grid. Under NWP 12 a “single and complete” project that results in less than a ½ 

acre loss of waters of the U.S. is allowed to proceed under NWP 12 rather than obtain an 

individual CWA permit.
43

 Currently, each crossing of a road over a water of the U.S. is 

treated as a “single and complete” project. The proposed rule creates large areas in which 

NWP 12 could no longer be used at all. Under this proposed rule waters in the same 

riparian area or floodplain all become adjacent waters and therefore waters of the U.S. If 

all of the waters in the riparian area or floodplain are treated as one interconnected water 

of the U.S. it would be virtually impossible for small utility companies to use NWP 12.  

Small utilities would need to apply for the more costly and time consuming individual 

                                                 
39

 Id. at 1045.  
40

 Id. at 1044. 
41

 Testimony of Jack Field, Owner Lazy JF Cattle Co. at U.S. House of Representatives Committee on 

Small Business Hearing entitled “Will EPA’s Waters of the United States Rule Drown Small Businesses?”, 

May 29, 2014 at http://smallbusiness.house.gov/calendar/eventsingle.aspx?EventID=373099. 
42

 79 Fed. Reg. at 22,194; Notice of Availability Regarding the Exemption From Permitting Under 

Section 404(f)(1)(A) of the Clean Water Act to Certain Agricultural 

Conservation Practices,79 Fed. Reg. 22,276. 
43

 Reissuance of Nationwide Permits, 77 Fed. Reg. 10195 (February 21, 2012). 

http://smallbusiness.house.gov/calendar/eventsingle.aspx?EventID=373099
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permits.  This is a direct cost imposed solely as a result of the changes to the definition of 

the term “waters of the United States” proposed in this rule. 

 

These examples, as well as comments that Advocacy has received from small entities in 

other industries, demonstrate that the impact of the proposed rule will be direct. 

Therefore, the agencies are required to measure the impacts of the rule and to determine 

whether those impacts are significant for a substantial number of small entities.  

  

C. The Rule Will Have a Significant Economic Impact on Small Businesses 

The economic analysis clearly indicates that this rule is likely to have a significant 

economic effect on small businesses. In the analysis, the agencies examine the anticipated 

changes to permitting under CWA Section 404 (development projects that discharge 

dredge or fill materials into waters of the U.S.).  They find that in current practice 98 

percent of streams and 98.5 percent of wetlands meet the definition of waters of the 

U.S.;
44

 under the revised definition these figures rise to 100 percent.
45

 They find zero 

percent of “other waters” (the seventh category in the revised definition) to be covered in 

current practice, but the revised definition would cover 17 percent of this category.
46

 The 

agencies evidence an understanding that this increase in jurisdiction will lead to greater 

costs stating, “A change in assertion of CWA jurisdiction could result in indirect costs of 

implementation of the CWA 404 program: a greater share of development projects would 

intersect with jurisdictional waters, thus requiring the sponsors of those additional 

projects to obtain and comply with CWA 404 permits.”
47

 

The agencies estimate that CWA 404 permit costs would increase between $19.8 million 

and $52.0 million dollars annually, and they estimate that section 404 mitigation costs 

would rise between $59.7 million and $113.5 million annually.
48

 These amounts do not 

reflect additional possible cost increases associated with other Clean Water Act 

programs, such as Section 402 permitting or Section 311 oil spill prevention plans.
49

  The 

agencies further state that the economic analysis done with respect to the 404 program 

increase is likely not representative of the changes that may occur with respect to 402 and 

311 permitting,
50

 leaving small businesses without a clear idea of the additional costs 

they are likely to incur for these Clean Water Act programs. 

The economic analysis also singles out a particular class of businesses potentially 

affected by the revised definition, yet fails to evaluate any of these potential effects. EPA 

acknowledges that “a large portion of traditional 402 permit holders are located nearby 

large water sources to support their operations.”
51

 The agencies do not identify how many 

                                                 
44

 Economic Analysis of Proposed Revised Definition of Waters of the United States, U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 11 (March 2014). 
45

 Id.  
46

 Id.  
47

 Id. at 13.  Advocacy disagrees with the agencies’ assertion that this cost is indirect (see above).  
48

 Id. at 16. 
49

 Id. at 12. 
50

 Id.  
51

 Id. 
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of these businesses may be small nor do they discuss the expected impact of this rule on 

them. Yet this proposed rule would directly affect those small businesses that may be 

located next to large water sources and which fall within the 3 percent of waters that will 

be newly included in the definition “waters of the U.S.”  

Concerns raised by small businesses as well as the agencies’ own economic analysis both 

indicate that small businesses will see a cost increase as a result of the revised definition. 

The EPA and the Corps have obligations under OMB guidance, and the RFA to measure 

and communicate this increase. Their certification of no small business impact is 

inappropriate in light of this information. Because of this probable small business impact, 

the RFA requires the agencies to complete an IRFA and a SBAR panel. 

 

Conclusion 

Advocacy and small businesses are extremely concerned about the rule as proposed. The 

rule will have a direct and potentially costly impact on small businesses. The limited 

economic analysis which the agencies submitted with the rule provides ample evidence of 

a potentially significant economic impact. Advocacy advises the agencies to withdraw the 

rule and conduct a SBAR panel prior to promulgating any further rule on this issue.  

 

If we can be of any further assistance, please contact Kia Dennis, Assistant Chief 

Counsel, at  

 

Thank you for your attention to this matter.   

 

Sincerely, 

/s/ Winslow Sargeant, Ph.D.  

Chief Counsel for Advocacy 

 

/s/ Kia Dennis 

Assistant Chief Counsel 

 

/s/ Stephanie Fekete 

Legal Fellow 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Dorjets, Vlad 
Tuesday, May OS, 2015 6:34 PM 

RE: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

I apologize for not sending you a heads up after distributing the doc to the original set of recipients. I guess I assumed it 
would be forwarded it to you like the rul e was. I'll do everything I can on my end to buy you some more time but it may 
be out of my control. 

-----Original Message----­
From:  
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 6:31 PM 
To: Dorjets, Vlad 
Subject: Re: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

I am confirming but I don't think it went around -- suspect Katie assumed I was on the thread ... 

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on the Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network. 
Original Message 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 5, 20156:30 PM 
To: Lew, Shoshana (OST) 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

Thanks for letting me know. Do you know whether Katie distributed the rule to others in the Agency? Please do your 
best to get me something by Monday, the original deadline. If nee ded, I can send the other comments to EPA and the 
Corps and let them know that you're agency's comments will be provided later but I can't gaurantee how that will go 
over given the pressure to get thi s rule out the door. 

-----Origina l Message----­
From:  
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 6:23 PM 
To: Dorjets, Vlad 
Subject: Re: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

Thank you. I'm not sure we can do it by end of week ... 

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on the Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network. 
Original Message 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Tuesday, Ma¥ 5, 2015 6:06 PM 
To: Lew, Shoshana (OST) 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 
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Attached. 

-----Original Message----­
From :
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 6:05 PM 
To: Dorjets, Vlad 
Subject: Re: Clean Water Rule / WOTUs Economic Analysis 

Can you resend? 

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on the Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network. 
Original Message 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 5, 20156:03 PM 
To: Lew, shoshana (OsT) 
Subject: RE : Clean Water Rule / WOTUs Economic Analysis 

I used the same distribution list that was instructed to use for the preambl e/rule which included Kathryn Thomson. 
Hopefully, she distributed the RIA to the appropriate people. I just assumed you were reviewing it because of your 
involvement on the regulation. 

-----Original Message----­
From :  
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 S:S9 PM 
To: Dorjets, Vlad 
Subject: Re: Clean Water Rule / WOTUs Economic Analysis 

I never received the RIA. Did others at DOT? 

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on t he Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network. 
Original Message 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Tuesday, May S, 20155:58 PM 
To: Lew, Shoshana (OsT) 
Subject: FW: Clean Water Rule / WOTUs Economic Analysis 

Shoshana, 

The pressure on WOTUs/Clean Water Rule is getting tur ned up from on high and I have been asked to do whatever I can 
to provide all comments back to EPA and the Corps by the end of the week. I know that I origina lly a set a deadline of 
Monday so I apologize for changing direction on the fly, but do you think you can get me any comments your agency 
may have on the RIA by noon on Friday? Thanks and sorry for the inconvenience. 

Vlad 
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From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Monday, April 27, 201S 6:10 PM 
To: 'Gormsen, EricT (OLP)';
' ; 

 Kumor, Kenneth M. (HQ-LD020) 
Cc: Johnson, Katie B.; Mancini, Dominic J.; Laity, Jim 
Subject: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

Agency Reviewers: 

Attached for your review is the Economic Analysis (EA) related to the final Clean Water Rule / WOTUS distributed several 
weeks ago. Like with the ru le itself, we are only circulating the EA to a single official within each agency and asking that 
you please limit distribution within your agency to personnel who are essential to the review process. 

As a reminder, the attached materials are deliberative and pre -decisional and may not be shared or discussed with 
anyone outside of the Executive Branch. Also, please impress upon those who receive the rule the importance of 
avoiding leaks. Please let me know w ho will be the lead reviewer for your agency. If you are not sure who in your 
agency previously provided comments to OMB on the proposed version of the rule, please let me know and I will get 
back to you right away. 

Please send me comments by Monday, May 11th. 

If you have questions or would like to discuss any aspect of the rule, please feel free to contact me. 

Vlad Dorjets 

Vlad Dorjets 
Clean Water Act Desk Officer 
Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs White House Office of Management and Budget 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Kohl, Elizabeth 
Wednesday, May 

Dorjets, Vlad 
Cohen, Daniel 

RE: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

Vlad -I 've revised our deadline so we can get you comments by noon Friday. Thanks, 

Betsy 

From: Dorjets, Via 
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 5:51 PM 
To: Kohl, Elizabeth 
Cc: Cohen, Daniel 
Subject: FW: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 
Importance: High 

Betsy, 

The pressure on WOTUS/Clean Water Ru le is getting turned up from on high and I have been asked to do whatever I can 
to provide all comments back to EPA by the end of the week. I know that I originally a set a deadline of Monday so I 
apologize for changing direction on the f ly, but do you think you can get me your agency's comments on the RIA by noon 
on Friday? Sorry for the inconven ience. 

VI ad 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Monday, April 27, 2015 6:10 PM 
To: ; 'Gormsen, Eric T (OLP)'; ; 

 ' ' ; 
'  ' ; Kumor, Kenneth M. (HQ -LD020) 
Cc: Johnson, Katie B. ; Mancini, Dominic J.; Laity, Jim 
Subject: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

Agency Reviewers: 

Attached for your review is the Economic Ana lysis (EA) related to the final CI ean Water Rule / WOTUS distributed several 
weeks ago. Like with the ru le itself, we are on ly circulating the EA to a single official wi thin each agency and asking that 
you please limit distribution within your agency to personnel who are essentia l to the review process. 

As a remind er, the attached materials are deliberative and pre -decisiona l and may not be shared or discussed with 
anyone outside of the Executive Branch. Also, please impress upon those who receive the rule the importance of 
avoiding leaks. Please let me know who will be the lead reviewer for your agency. If you are not sure who in your 
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agency previously provided comments to OMB on the proposed version of the rule, please let me know and I will get 
back to you right away. 

Please send me comments by Monday, May 11th. 

If you have questions or wou ld like to discuss any aspect of the rule, please feel free to contact me. 

Vlad Dorjets 

VI ad Dorjets 
Clean Water Act Desk Officer 
Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs 
White House Office of Management and Budget 
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From: Gormsen, Eric T (OLP) 

Sent: Wednesday, May 06, 2015 9:14 AM 

To: Dorjets, Vlad 

Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

Vlad, 

I hope to be able to meet the new deadline. 

Thanks, 

Eric 

From: Dorjets, Via 
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 5:52 PM 
To: Gormsen, Eric T (OlP) 

Signed ". 
--- Eric Taylor Gormsen --­

Office of Legal Policy 
Department of Justice 

Subject: FW: Oean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 
Importance: High 

Eric, 

The pressure on WOTUS/Clean Water Rule is getting turned up from on high and I have been asked to do whatever I can 
to provide all comments back to EPA and the Corps by the end of the week. I know that I originally a set a deadline of 
Monday so I apologize for changing direction on the f ly, but do you think you can get me your agency's comments on 
the RIA by noon on Friday? Sorry for the inconvenience. 

VI ad 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Monday, April 27, 2015 6:10 PM 
To:  'Gormsen, Eric T (OlP),; 

; '
; Kumor, Kenneth M . (HQ -lD020) 

Cc: Johnson, Katie B.; Mancini, Dominic J.; l aity, Jim 
Subject: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

Agency Reviewers: 
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Attached for your review is the Economic Analysis (EA) related to the final Clean Water Rule / WOTUS distributed several 
weeks ago. Like with the rule itself, we are only circulating the EA to a single official within each agency and asking that 
you please limit distribution within your agency to personnel who are essential to the review process. 

As a reminder, the attached materials are deliberative and pre -decisional and may not be shared or discussed with 
anyone outside of the Executive Branch. Also, p lease impress upon those who receive the rule the importance of 
avoiding leaks. Please let me know who will be the lead reviewer for your agency. If you are not sure who in your 
agency previously provided comments to OMB on the proposed version of the ru Ie, please let me know and I will get 
back to you right away. 

Please send me comments by Monday, May 11 th 

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
Sent: 08, 2015 11:03 AM 

To: 
Subject: 

Shoshana - I'm terri by sorry but I just remembered that lowed you a response to your question. Hopefully, you have 
been able to proceed with your analysis without it. Please let me know if you have any questions or if there is anything 
else I can do to he Ip with your analysis. In terms of timing, only a handful of agencies should be able to get me their 
comments today. Do you think you can get me something on Monday? If you send me anything beyond that, I will 
certainly forward it to EPA and the Corps but I can't guarantee that it will get the same level of attention. 

----Original Message----­
From:
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 6:43 PM 
To: Dorjets, VI ad 
Subject: Re: Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

That would be great - thank you 

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on the Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network. 
Original Message 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 5, 20156:41 PM 
To: Lew, Shoshana (OST) 
Subject: RE : Clean Water Rule / WOTUS Economic Analysis 

I can probably get you an answer on that tomorrow. 

-----Original Message----­
From:  
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 6:40 PM 
To: Dorjets, VI ad 
Subject: Re : Clean Wate r Rule / WOTUS Economi c Analysis 

If you cou ld buy us a bit of time would be great. Do yoh have a sense of where the issues that were of greatest interest 
to us are covered in the RIA? Knowing that might help expedite. 

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on the Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network. 
Original Message 

From : Dorjet s, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 5,20156:34 PM 
To: Lew, Shoshana (OST) 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Peck, Gregory 
Saturday, May 
Dorjets, Vlad; Schmauder, Craig R SES (US) 
Re: WOTUS pass back comments 

DOT's interpretation of the revised ditch exclusion is correct in my view. Craig? 

From : Dorjets, Via 
Sent: Saturday, May 16, 2015 10:34 AM 
To: Peck, Gregory; Schmauder, Craig R SES (US) 
Subject: FW: WOTUS pass back comments 

DOT's comments on pass back are below. I think I have already captured the instances of confusion and grammatical 
errors they note in my own comments but forwarding to you for thoroughness . Also, please note the clarification 
question they have posed. 

-----Original Message----­
From:  
5ent: Thursday, May 14,20159:27 PM 
To: Dorjets, VI ad; Johnson, Katie B. 
Cc:  
Subject: WOTUS passback comments 

Vlad, Katie -

Thank you for the opportunity to review the passback. We greatly appreciate both the changes that have been made to 
address our comments and the early and continued engagement by EPA and USACE to discuss and largely accommodate 
our feedback. 

Below are our comments on the passback, most of them minor. A quick conversation tomorrow might help to provide 
clarification on a couple of these. 

Thanks -
Shoshana 

-- There appears to be an inconsistency between 328.3(b)(3)(A) of the passback and the revised 328.3(b)(3)(B). It 
appears that the agencies intended to eliminate ephemeral from 328.3(b)(3)(B), based on the language in the preamble 
on Page 98. However, "ephemeral" currently appears in (3)(B). 

-- Definition in 328.3(b)(3)(B) (page 199): Grammatical correction needed to revised language, now reading "Ditches 
with ephemeral or intermittent flow that are not a relocated tributary, excavated in a tributary, or drain wetlands." 

-- Th e text in many parts of the preamble has not been updated to reflect the revised exemption definitions in the 
regul atory text (see, e.g., pages 25, 98, 103 -104, 166), or the revised significant nexus standard (see, e.g., pages 23, 24, 
28,68,79-80,128,132-144,160). 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Peck, Gregor 
Tuesday, September 17, 2013 5:00 PM 
Laity, Jim 
RE:WOTUS 

Thanks Jim. Its always good to work wi th you - I'll look forward to it. 

Best, 
Greg 

From: Laity, Ji 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2013 4:56 PM 
To: Peck, Gregory 
Subject: WOTUS 

We were able to fix at our end. I will circu late to interagency reviewers tonight and give them until cob Friday, Oct 4 for 
comments. Look forward to working together. Jim 

From: Peck, Gregory 
Sent: Tuesday, 
To: Laity, Jim 
Subject: RE: Please cal ••••• -

Our OP folks have gone home for the day. We can resubm it in the morning - do you have to "unaccept" first? Is there 
additional info needed or is the EA enough? 

Thanks Jim. 

Greg 

Gregory E. Peck 
Chief of Staff 

From: Laity, Jim 

-
Sent: Tuesday, September 17,2013 3:35 PM 
To: Peck, Gregory 
Subject: Please call asa 

We would like the CWP rule submitted as "economica lly significa nt." I understand that we will have further discussions 
in the context of review on how to characteri ze the costs, and I don't mean to prejudge that discussion. But the 
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gu idance (about to be withdrawn) is listed as "economically significant" and I'm afraid it may raise eyebrows if the ru le is 
not similarly characterized. You do include an EA that shows costs well in excess of $100 million. 
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From: Laity, Jim 

Sent: Friday, October 25, 2013 6:17 PM 
To: 

Subject: 

~~5~!555:pe:n:d:e:rg~a~s~t'~J~im:~=~,,~~~~~ Gaffney-Smith, ~argaret E ); Smith, Charles R CIV (US) 

FW: Interagency Review of Joint EPNCorps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act 

Jurisdiction 

Attachments: E012866 _ CWA_ WUS2040-AF 30 _N PRM_EA_20 130917.docx 

FYI 

From: Roach, Emma 
Sent: Friday, October 25, 2013 2:07 PM 
To: Laity, Jim 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Jim, 

Thanks for the opportunity to review the draft rule and economic analysis. I've been crunched for time, but wanted to 
provide my thoughts based on my quick review. I have proposed an edit in the economic ana lysis (attached) to strike 
language about a need to increase the Corps' regulatory program budget. 

My general comments/questions are as follows: 

• What does EPA/Corps plan to do regarding this rule in the event that EPA's Scientific Advisory Board finds fau lt 
with the connectivity report? 

• The portion of the economic analysis on the Corps' administrative costs seems to indicate that this rule on ly 
increases costs. Are there any ways in which the rule would decrease particular administrative costs due to the 
greater certainty in terms of what section 404 covers? 

Thanks, and let me know if you have any questions. 

Best, 
Emma 

From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Wednesday, October 23, 2013 6:00 PM 
To: Roach, Emma 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

No prob lem 

From: Roach, Emma 
Sent: Wedne5day, October 23,2013 5:49 PM 
To: Laity, Jim 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Jim-
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Would you mind if I got you my comments tomorrow or Friday? Unfortunatel y, we had a number of things explode in 
the Corps world today and I wasn't able to finish my review. 

Let me know. Thanks. 

Best, 
Emma 

From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Friday, October 18, 2013 6: 16 PM 
To: Roach, Emma 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Will do, my mistake. Jim 

From: Roach, Emma 
Sent: Friday, October 18, 2013 12:05 PM 
To: Laity, Jim 
Subject: FW: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Jim, 

I realized I' m not on the distribution, but will get you comments by October 23 'd. Can you put me on any future emai ls 
on Corps rules? Thanks! 

Best, 

Emma 

From: Fong, Tera L. 
Sent: Friday, October 18, 2013 9:06 AM 
To: Roach, Emma 
Subject: FW: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Sorry, Emma . Forgot you weren't on this distribution . Probably worth shooting a note to Jim. 

From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Thursday, October 17, 2013 11:40 AM TO:================ 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Please provide interagency comments by cob, Wed Oct 23. If this is a problem, please let me know. Jim 
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From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2013 5:55 PM 

TO================~ 
i Mike; Irwin, 

Janet; McConville, Drew; Utech, Dan G.; Higgins, Cortney 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPNCorps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

In the event of a lapse in funding, we will extend the deadline below by one day for each day of the lapse. If you have 
separately discussed an extension with me, we will also extend the agreed upon date in the same manner. 

Jim Laity 

From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2013 7:43 PM 
To 

Cc: Mancini, Dominic J.; Comisky, Nicole E.; Fong, Tera L.; Finken, Anne; Rodan, Bruce; Stock, Jim; Hickey, Mike; Irwin, 
Janet; McConville, Drew; Utech, Dan G.; Higgins, Cortney 
Subject: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Ju risdiction 

Interagency Reviewers: Please ignore previous e-mail, I hit send by accident before I had finished preparing. 

Attached is the EPA/Corps draft proposed rule on CWA jurisdiction, along with the economic analysis. Please review and 
provide comments by Friday, October 4.2013. As you know, the agencies previously submitted draft guidance on this 
same issue for review. The agencies have decided to proceed with rule making and the draft guidance has been 
withdrawn. 

As a reminder, these documents should not be shared or discussed with anyone outside the executive branch. You may 
share as appropriate within your agency. If you feel someone outside your agency should review, please let me know 

and I will forward it to them. Please help ensure the integrity of the interagency review process by respecting these 
guidelines. 

Feel free to ca ll me if you have any questions or concerns. 

Jim Laity 
OMB/OIRA Desk Officer for CWA 
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From: Laity, Jim 

Sent: Monday, November 04, 2013 5:22 PM 
To: pp;ec~k~, ~G~re~g~o~ry~;~p~e~n~d~er~g~a~st~, ~Ji;m~::~~~~~ •• Gaffney-Smith, Margaret E 

~ 'Chip Smith' 
Finken, Anne Cc: 

Subject: FW: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act 
Jurisdiction 

FYI 

From: Finken, Anne 
Sent: Monday, November 04, 2013 11: 18 AM 
To: Laity, Jim 
Cc: Guzy, Gary S.; McConville, Drew; Jensen, Jay; Kumar, Chitra; Huang, Jennifer (Intern); Patel, Manisha; Fay, Phillip 
(Intern); Snow, Sydney (Intern) 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

HiJim -

Thank you again for the additional time to review the WOTUS rulemaking package. Attached are CEQ's specific 
comments and edits on the draft rule. We did not have any comments on the EA. Below we describe some genera l 
comments on the rule. We appreciate your efforts in ensuring that the agency receives all of these comments. If you 

have any questions, please let us know! 

Again, thanks! 

Best, 
Anne 

General comments on the WOTUS package: 

• Legal : Include a concise legal analysis of why EPA is adopting the interpretation set forth in the Kennedy 
concurrence. The executive summary, preamble and Appendix B shou ld include a broader discussion of 
Rapanos, includ ing how both the plurality and Justice Kennedy's concurrence articulated narrower grounds than 
the dissent, and therefore both the plurality and Justice Kennedy's concurrence are grounds on which a majority 
of the Justices in Rapanos wou ld confirm CWA jurisdiction. Once a fuller description of Rapanos is provided, the 
agencies may better describe why they are adopting the juri sdictional interpretation set forth by 
Kennedy. Currently, the executive summary jumps without explanation to use of Kennedy's significant nexus 
test, and the executive summary wou ld be strengthened if the logic for this approach is set forth. 

• Context: Add background information early on in the preamble and Appendix B regarding the CWA permitting 
programs (404 and 402/NPDES). The agencies should describe how those programs are set forth in statute and 
rely on the jurisdictional definition of "waters of the United States". Some of the text on page 19, for example, 
could be moved to earlier in the preamble where there is a disc ussion of the CWA statutory structure. 

• Context: Add background information early on in the preamble and Appendix B regarding the rule makings and 
guidance documents issued by the Agencies. On page 15, for example, the "2008 guidance" is introduced 
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without explanation. Instead, it would be useful to have a brief discussion of the agencies' deliberative actions 
to define WOTUS over the years. A logical flow of the preamble and Appendix B could include a discussion of 
the statute, regulations and guida nce, and then the discussion of SCOTUS opinions. 

• Weight of Discussion: Consider the amount of text in the rule provided to each category of jurisdictional 
waters. The agencies include a significant amount of discussion on traditional navigable waters, interstate 
waters, and territoria l seas in the preamble, when these categories are fairly well settled regarding 
jurisdiction. Have the agencies considered focusing the preamble language on those jurisdictional categories 
that are less well settled? 

• Drafting: Revise the drafting to be concise, omit repetition, and ensure a logical flow of content. Currently, the 
preamble and lega l analysis are chal lenging to digest due to repetition and, in the legal appendix, the large 

volume of block quotes (use text to state summarized main points from the cases and use more citations/FNs to 
incorporate direct quotes). EPA's rule would be stronger also if the repetition of language between the text and 
both appendices is reduced, and this wou ld reduce the overa ll I ength of the rule and appendices. It seems the 
preamble should serve as a stand along document, with the appendices serving as true appendices. 

• Drafting: The agencies should work to make the linkage between the legal "significant nexus" test and the 
scientific rationa le easily accessible to the reader. For example, one takeaway that any reader should have is 
that the proposed rule is narrower in scope than the agencies' previous interpretation under the CWA. 

• Scientific Appendix: Generally this appe ndix reads better than preamble and it summarizes the Connectivity 
Report. 

Anne Finken 
Deputy Associate Director for Regulatory Policy 
Council on Environmental Quality 

From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2013 5:55 PM 
To: 

Cc: Mancini, Dominic J.; Comisky, Nicole E.; Fang, Tera L.; Finken, Anne; Rodan, Bruce; Stock, Jim; Hickey, Mike; Irwin, 
Janet; McConville, Drew; Utech, Dan G.; Higgins, Cortney 
Subject: RE: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule on Clean Water Ac t Jurisdiction 

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
Sent: Tuesday, September 17,2013 7:43 PM 
To 
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Cc: Mancini, Dominic J.; Comisky, Nicole E.; Fong, Tera L. ; Finken, Anne; Rodan, Bruce; Stock, Jim; Hickey, Mike; Irwin, 
Janet; McConville, Drew; Utech, Dan G.; Higgins, Cortney 
Subject: Interagency Review of Joint EPA/Corps Proposed Rule 0 n Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Interagency Reviewers: Please ignore previous e-ma il, I hit send by accident before I had finished preparing. 

Attached is the EPA/Corps draft proposed rule on CWA jurisdiction, along with the economic analysis. Please review and 
provide comments by Friday. October 4. 2013. As you know, th e agencies previously submitted draft guidance on this 
same issue for review. The agencies have decided to proceed with rule making and the draft gu idance has been 
withdrawn. 

As a reminder, these documents should not be shared or discussed with anyone outside the executive branch. You may 
share as appropriate within you r agency. If you feel someone outside your agency should review, please let me know 
and I wi ll forward it to them. Please help ensure the integrity of the interagency review process by respecting these 

gu idelines. 

Feel free to call me if you have any questions or concerns. 

Jim Laity 
OMB/OIRA Desk Officer for CWA 
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From: 

Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Peck, Gregor 

Tuesday, December 03, 2013 3:03 AM 
Laity, Jim 

Re:WOTUS. 

Thanks Jim. I think Gina's office is trying to schedu le a ca ll before she leaves for China . I've tried to suggest that you an d I 
cou ld come up with options - but so far no success. Strong interest here to resolve quickly. 

we'll need to involve Army too. 
Gregory E. Peck 
Chief of Staff 
Office of Water 
USEPA 
Washington, DC. _ 

From: Laity, Ji 
Sent: Monday, December 02, 2013 9:54:55 PM 

To: Peck, Gregory 
Subject: RE: WOTUS. 

I believe Howard wi ll suggest that the staff work these issues a bit first and tee up for policy level discussion w ith spedf ic 
options, as normally happens. However, not sure how he will respond if Gina disagrees. I will ping him again tomorrow 
about making the call . I would expect it to be very soon. Jim 

-----Original Message-----

From: Peck, Gregor ••••••••••• 
Sent: Wednesday, November 27, 2013 11:16 AM 
To: Laity, Jim 
Subject: RE: WOTUS. 

Jim - do you have a sense about how Ho ward w ill want to resolve these issues? A face to face w ith Gina (and JoEllen)? 
Some type of larger principa ls meeting including other agencies? Also - did Howard indicate when he might call Gina? 
We' ll need to talk with her first if that works for you all. 

Thanks 

From: Laity, Jim .> 

Sent: Wednesday, November 27,2013 12:49 AM 
To: Peck, Gregory 
Subject: WOTU S. 

Meant to get back to you soone r. Howard wi ll call Gina soon to discuss process and t iming for resolving the five policy 
level issues that I mentioned ea rlier today. Have a good Thanksgiving. Jim 
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Ps. If u can get me a draft small entity outreach report 500 n, I will try to make that work per our earlier agreement. I will 
offer SBA the opportunity to make comments (we might have some too) and try to convince them this is a good way 
forward. 

Sent with Good (www.good.com) 

-----Origina I Message -----

From: Peck, Gregor •••••••••••• 
Sent: Tuesday, November 26, 2013 01:15 PM Eastern Standard Time 
To: Laity, Jim 
Subject: FW: RFA 

I don't think a report was prepared - but let me double check. Here's the scanned emails I mentione d that includes input 
from Cass and Dom ..... . 

From: Laity, Ji 
Sent: Tuesday, November 26, 2013 12:54 PM 
To: Peck, Gregory 
Subject: RE: RFA 

Greg, This is very helpful, and jogs my memory. One quick question, was a report ever prepared coming out of the 
outreach meeting with small entities? I don't remember seeing one, but I may well have forgotten. If you could let me 
know before 3:30 that would be great. Jim 

From: Peck, Gregor •••••••••••• 
Sent: Tuesday, November 26, 2013 11:01 AM 
To: Laity, Jim 
Subject: RFA 

Here's a set of emails starting with M.ike Fitzpatrick. I'll find a couple more 

Gregory E. Peck 

Chief of Staff 

Office of Water 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

Colleagues: 

Dorjets, Vlad 
Tuesday, April 07, 2015 2:10 PM 

Renshaw, Katie; Fong, Tera L.; Wong, Jacqueline; Vahlsing, Candace; Rodan, Bruce; 
Nickerson, Cynthia 
Clean Water Rule (WOTUS) Review 
Final Clean Water Rule (RIN 2040-AF30).docx 

Attached for your review is the joint EPA/Army Corps final Clean Water Rule concerning the definition of the "Waters of 
the United States" (the related economic analysis will be provided at a later time). 

As a reminder, the attached materials are deliberative and pre -decis ional and may not be shared or discussed with 
anyone outside of the Executive Branch. As you may know, a version of the proposed rule was leaked to the public and 
external stakeholders sho rtly after it was circulated for interagency review. To avoid a repeat of this, we only circulated 
the rule to a single official within each agency and asked them to limit distribution to personnel who were essential to 
the review process. We ask that you also limit your distribution as much as possible. If somebody outside of your office 
asks to review the rule or if you feel that someone outside of your office should participate in the review, please let me 
know and I will forward it to them myself. Pleas e help us maintain the integrity of the interagency review process by 
respecting these process requirements. 

Please send me comments by COB Monday, April 20'h 

If you have questions or would like to discuss any aspect of the rule, please feel free to contact me. 

Vlad 
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From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, April 21, 2015 4:44 PM 

Renshaw, Katie To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Mallory, Brenda; Patel, Manisha; Jensen, Jay; Tarquinio, Ellen; McConville, Drew 
RE: Clean Water Rule (WOTUS) Review 

Attachments: OverviewSummary_Waters of the U.s. Comments.docx; Executive Summary DRAFT -
Economic Analysis April 17 2015.docx 

Katie - Thanks for submitting these. We are expecting the related Economic Analysis to be submitted to us by the end of 
the week at which point I will distribute it for interagency review. In regards to response to comment, EPA and Army 
Corps are still pre paring the document which they expect to be VERY long and not available for several more weeks. In 
the meantime, they have provided a summary of public comments which I have attached for your information. I have 
also received from EPA a draft summary of th e Economic Analysis which I have attached although it is no substitute for 
the actual report. 

From: Renshaw, Katie 
Sent: Tuesday, April 21, 2015 4:30 PM 
To: Dorjets, VI ad 
Cc: Mallory, Brenda; Patel, Manisha; Jensen, Jay; Tarquinio, Ellen; McConville, Drew 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule (WOTUS) Review 

Vlad-

Thank you for the opportunity to review EPA's draft final Clean Water Rule, and I apologize for the belated 
submission. I've attached CEQ's comments on the draft. Our overarching comments are the following: 

• Key definitions: We have flagged a few places throughout where we think the agencies could consider 

providing more specific definitions for terms used in the final rule. 

• Implementation guidance/ direction: The final rule is an improvement over the proposed rule in that it offers 
more clarity on the types of waters that are covered. What actions are the agencies taking to ensure that the 

rule will be implemented consistently over the 38 Corps districts? Some particular areas that may benefit from 

agency training and coordination include watershed delineations, establishing 100 -year floodplain where no 

FEMA maps exist, and the process for establishin g exclusions. 

• Some sections would benefit from language revisions: Several areas in the rule could use clearer, more precise 
language. This includes the discussion on significant nexus tests, categories of waters in (a)(7) or (b)(8), 

adjacency discussions, and the rationale for establishing thresholds. 

• Consideration of Science Advisory Board (SAB) recommendations: The preamble discusses several comments 

and recommendations ofthe SAB that are not ultimately incorporated into the final rule. The final rule would 

benefit from a clearer explanation from the agencies as to how they considered these recommendations in 

making their ultimate decisions. 

• Missing key components to fully review the rule: The Economic Analysis, the Respo nse to Comments 
document and the Technical Support Document were not included with the final rule when it was submitted to 

OMB. The lack of these companion documents made the rule difficult to analyze and understand the full 
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implications. Mindful that we a re on a fast turn, we view this as an incomplete package and request that we 

have the opportunity to review and comment on the additional documents as they are made ava ilable. 

Please let me know if you have any questions or wou ld like any further informat ion from us on these comments. 

Katie 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, April 07, 2015 2:10 PM 
To: Renshaw, Katie; Fong, Tera L.; Wong, Jacqueline; Vahlsing, Candace; Rodan, Bruce; Nickerson, Cynthia 
Subject: Clean Water Rule (WOTUS) Review 

Colleagues: 

Attached for your review is the joint EPA/Army Corps final Clean Water Rule concerning the definition of the "Waters of 
the United States" (the related economic analysis will be provided at a later time). 

As a reminder, the attached materials are deli berative and pre-decisional and may not be shared or discussed with 
anyone outside of the Executive Branch. As you may know, a version of the proposed rule was leaked to the public and 
external stakeholders shortly after it was circulated for interagency review. To avoid a repeat of this, we only circulated 
the rul e to a single official within each agency and asked them to limit distribution to personnel who were essential to 
the review process. We ask that you also limit your distribution as much as possib Ie. If somebody outside of your office 
asks to review the rule or if you feel that someone outside of your office should participate in the review, please let me 
know and I will forward it to them myself. Please help us maintain the integrity of the intera gency review process by 
respecting these process requirements. 

Please send me comments by COB Monday, April 20 th
. 

If you have questions or wou ld like to discuss any aspect of the rule, please feel free to contact me. 

Vlad 
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From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 05, 20155:44 PM 

To: Renshaw, Katie; Fong, Tera L.; Wong, Jacqueline; Vahlsing, Candace; Rodan, Bruce; 

Nickerson, Cynthia; Heinzelman, Kate; Thomas, Amanda; Burke, Erin 

Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule (WOTUS) Economic Analysis 

Importance: High 

Colleagues - The pressure is getting kicked up on this rule and I have been asked to do w hatever I can to get comments 

on the RIA back to EPA by the end of the week. If there is any way you can get me your comments on the RIA by noon on 
Friday I would really appreciate it. Sorry for the inconven ience. 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Monday, April 27, 2015 6:20 PM 
To: Renshaw, Katie; Fong, Tera L.; Wong, Jacqueline; Vahlsing, Candace; Rodan, Bruce; Nickerson, Cynthia; Kate 

Heinzelman; Thomas, Amanda; Erin Burk 
Subject: Clean Water Rule IWOTUS) Economic Analysis 

Colleagues, 

Attached for you r review is the Economic Analysis lEA) related to the draft final Clean Water RU le / WOTUS. Please send 
me comments by Monday, May 11th 

As a reminder, the attached materials are deliberative and pre -decisional and may not be shared or discussed with 
anyone outside of the Executive Branch. Also, please impress upon those w ho receive the rule the importance of 

avoiding leaks. Please let me know who will be the lead reviewer for you r agency. If you are not sure who in you r 
agency previously provided comm ents to OMB on the proposed version of the rule, please let me know and I will get 
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

Renshaw, Katie 
Friday, May 08, 2015 6:07 PM 

Dorjets, Vlad 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Tarquinio, Ellen; Jensen, Jay; Mallory, Brenda; Patel, Manisha; McConville, Drew 
RE: Clean Water Rule (WOTU5) Economic Analysis 

Attachments: Draft Final Clean Water Rule Economic Analysis CEQ v2.docx 

Vlad -

Thank you for the opportunity to review EPA's economic analysis for the Clean Water Rule. CEQ's comments are in the 
attached and summarized below: 

1. The agencies characterize the baseline dataset (the FY13 and FY 14 JDs) as field practice based on the 2008 EPA and 
Corps jurisdiction gu idance. Stakeholders have uniformly argued that the status quo case -by-case approach has likely 
resulted in fewer positive JOs than could theoretically be possible under a robust application of the 2008 guidance. To 
the extent that the stakeholders are correct, could the agencies acknowledge that uncertainty and regional differences 
may have led to inconsistent applicati on of the 2008 guidance? 

2. The EA for the proposed rule was based on an analysis of negative JDs from FY09 and FYlO. In response to comments 
that that dataset represented a period of decreased economic activity, in the final rule, the agencies instea d use an 
analysis of JDs from FY13 and FYl4. By changing this baseline the agencies make it difficult to compare the impacts of 
the proposed rule to the final rule. Is there anything that the agencies can do or provide that would facilitate this type 
of comparison? In other words, is it possible to clarify whether the increase in covered waters from the proposed rule 
(-3% increase in jurisdiction) to the final rule (- 5% increase in jurisdiction) has resulted from the changes made to the 
rule or from the change in baseline? 

3. In the EA, the agencies recognize that the rule may result in some currently -jurisdictional waters being found to be 
non-jurisdictional. Can the agencies provide an explanation in the document as to why this fact is not incorporat ed into 
the analysis? 

4. Several stakeholders have raised the permitting times as an area of significant cost increase. How was it determined 
that the associated costs would be relatively small? 

Please let me know if you have any questions or would lik e to discuss further. 

Katie 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Monday, April 27, 2015 6:20 PM 
To: Renshaw, Katie; Fong, Tera L.; Wong, Jacqueline; Vahlsing, Candace; Rodan, Bruce; Nickerson, Cynthia; Heinzelman, 
Kate; Thomas, Amanda; Burke, Erin 
Subject: Clean Water Rule (WOTUS) Economic Analysis 

Colleagues, 

Attached for your review is the Economic Analysis (EA) related to the draft final Clean Water Rule / WOTUS. Please send 
me comments by Monday, May 11th 
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From: 

Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Interesting, thanks. 

Fong, Tera L. 
Tuesday, May 12, 2015 1:50 PM 
Dorjets, Vlad 
RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

From the mtg today-I think EPA's response to the argument about consultation would be letters a number of cities 
wrote to EPA and the Corps after the Rapanos decision saying essentially "we weren't consulted on this, we want a full 
rule making and an APA process." Their main overall point is on the final rule (to all groups) is "we've heard you and 
we1ve made changes responsive to your comments." 

About to type up my notes. Happy to follow up further afterwards too. 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12,20151:10 PM 
To: Fang, Tera L. 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

The National League of Cities, National Association of Counties, and US Conference of Mayor came in and had some 
pretty clear and strong comments. 

First and foremost, they were very disappointed that EPA and the Corps did not consult with them before issuing the 
proposed rule (they actually said the rule caught them completely by surprise) as they would have advised the agencies 
do to certain things differently. Even though they have been assured recently that their concerns have been addressed, 
they feel slited and do not trust EPA or the Corps. As a result they are asking for the rule to be withdrawn or at least for 
a 2,d comment period. 

In terms of specific concerns, they don't want more roadside ditches and stormwater systems being drawn into scope 
and feel that the economic analysis understates the costs and burdens. For example, they feel that the economic 
analysis only reflects the costs of 404 permitting and thus ignores other costs (e.g. admin, MS4, NPDES, WQS, TMDL, 
etc.), that could have a real impact on them if they must be applied to new waters. 

From: Fang, Tera L. 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 12:58 PM 
To: Dorjets, Vlad 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

Just that all systems seem to be "go" for the 21 " ; meeting was nearly all about events and outreach before, during, and 
after roll-out. Will type up my notes and circulate this afternoon. 

Note that the local groups are a key focus of outreach next week, so, yes, very curious what they had to say today. 
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From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 12:48 PM 
To: Fang, Tera L. 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

I have just asked Katie for an update but she is in and au t of meetings all day today. I understand one of the items on the 
agenda was next week's deadline. If you could let me know if there were any major decisions, I would really appreciate 
it. In exchange, I'll let you know the concerns expressed by cities, ma yors and counties at the EO meeting. 

From: Fang, Tera L. 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 12:46 PM 
To: Dorjets, Vlad; Lai ty, Jim 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

Hope she could hear things, will try to connect with you later today. 

o 

-----Original Message----­
From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 201511:25 AM Eastern Standard Time 
To: Fong, Tera L.; Laity, Jim 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

Tera - Thanks for the heads up. Katie will ca ll in for the meeting. 

From: Fang, Tera L. 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 10:57 AM 
To: Laity, Jim; Dorjets, Vlad 
Subject: FW: Clean Water Ru le rollout meeting 

This is at 11:30 today. I know there's a 121866 at this time -and one I'd like to attend, too, but if either of you can make 
this meeting at CEQ, please join. 

Thanks. 

From: Fang, Tera L. 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 10:48 AM 
To: Hickey, Mike 
Cc: Maisel, Chad P. 
Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

Yes, I can go. Thanks. 

From: Hickey, Mike 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 10:47 AM 
To: Fang, Tera L. 
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Cc: Maisel, Chad P. 
Subject: FW: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

Tera - This is the interagency roll out meeting I mentioned to you yesterday. It is at 11:30 today, can you go? Thanks. 

From: Maisel, Chad P. 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 10:37 AM 
To: Hickey, Mike 
Subject: FW: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

Hi Mike, 

Might you or Tera be able to make this? Ali can't and nor can I. Seems pretty comms - and outreach-focused. Sorry for 
the late notice. If you can't make it, I can try and change my sched around. 

From: Zaidi, Ali 

Sent: Monday, May 11, 2015 12:50 PM 
To: Tuss, Taryn l. 
Cc: Maisel, Chad P.; Mohtadi, Shara 

Subject: RE: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

Hi 

Can I dial in to this? 

-----Original Appointment----­

From: Tuss, Taryn L. 
Sent: Thursday, May 7, 2015 12:15 PM 

To: Tuss, Taryn l.; Goldfuss, Christ ina; Costa, Kristina; Patel, Rohan; Barranco, Angela; Bauserman, Trent; Zaidi, 

Ali; Jensen, Jay; Mallory, Brenda; Benenati, Frank; Rowe, Courtney; Crook, Lowry; Elson, Tom; Bond, Brian; 
 

Billingsley, Tara; Anderson, Amanda D.; Reynolds, Thomas ( Purchia, Liz 

( ); Matthew Herrick ( ); Cullen Schwarz 
( Tarquinio, Ellen 

Subject: Clean Water Rule rollout meeting 

When: Tuesday, May 12, 201S 11:30 AM -12:30 PM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 

Where: 722 Jackson Place, 1st floor conference room 

Let's get together the agency and EOP comms, leg and outreach teams to talk through the upcoming rollout of 

the Clean Water Rule. Just ring the bell at the front door; no WAVES needed. Thanks all. 
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From: Fang, Tera L. 

Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 2:58 PM 

To: 

Cc: 

Colyar, Kelly T.; Burke, Erin; Leung, Andrea; Dorjets, Vlad; Laity, Jim 

Hickey, Mike; Irwin, Janet 

Subject: Summary of Clean Water Rule Roll-out mtg at CEQ 

Water and Power Branch and OIRA, please see the following quick summary of the interagency Clean Water Rule roll -
out meeting at CEQ this morning. Please note our recommendations related to the Army Corps and let us know if you 
have any concerns with us fla gging this for Ali. 

I've tr ied to flag the big points first and additional details follow. I'm happy to follow -up on any of these points. Thanks. 

Main points: 
• EPA's plan to roll -out the rule is very extensive. All systems seem to be "go" for the 21 ~, and EPA indicates 

they are on-target to meet that. We should begin to see rollout materi als (talking points, Q&As, blog posts, etc) 
as soon as tomorrow. EPA is working with the Corps on coordinating materials, timing, and the overall 
announcements. 

• However, the Corps seems to be a bit player in this process. Although all roll-out seems to be joint between 
EPA and the Corps, the meeting was very EPA -centric. The Corps (Moira Kelley) says they are working with the 
approach EPA has designed, but that they are still working on the economic analysis and need to make sure 
none of the comms materials conflict with the final EA. The Corps indicated a need to make sure they have their 
regions aligned on messaging, and CEQ acknowledged challenges in their ability to do so vs EPA's ability to align 
its regions. I ·~hink it would be helpful if Ali could touch -base at the policy level with CEQ and/or the directly with 
the Corps to make sure they're fully looped -in and ready for roll-out next week, particularly as there are 
concerns that immediate questions on implementation will be directed at the Corps, and EPA seems to be 
struggling to connect with stakeholders in the development sectors such as the homebuilders. 

• USDA has been engaged, but it is unclear how publically supportive they will be. EPA has been sharing Ag­
focused fact sheets, Q&A, and visual aids with representative pictures of covered waters with USDA, and they 
expect to work with NRCS and Farm Service Agency staff at the local level. However, Secretary Vilsack's public 
message may be more supportive of the highly consultati ve process EPA and the Corps have run, rather than 
outright support for the rule itself. His staff committed to trying to strike the appropriate balance of the two, but 
additional EOP outreach may be helpful. 

• Top-line roll-out messages: (paraphrased) We've been listening, we've heard you, and the final rule reflects the 
significant input we received. Our goal is clean water to protect communities downstream -our drinking water 
and our economy depend on these protections. All agricultural exemptio ns continue. 

D CEQ cautioned to be careful not to quickly go to what the rule is not and to keep the focus on what it 

does do. 

• Additional work is needed around the legislative strategy. It seems additional meetings are forthcoming and 
we ran out of time for this discussion, but with the House likely to pass a bill requiring EPA and the Corps to 
withdraw and re-propose the rule this week, it could be very awkward to follow that with a big roll -out of the 
rule next week. Timing and strategies on the Senate end are unclear and weren't discussed. I think it is expected 
that some of the environmental groups and messages from key regional officials will target key Democratic 
states. 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subject: 

McConville, Drew 

Wednesday, May 13, 2015 8:26 PM 

Johnson, Katie B. 

FW: Advocacy testifying on WOTUS 

Hey, did Howard or someone else over there follow up with SBA advocacy on this? 

From: Shelanski, Howard 
Sent: Wednesday, April 29,2015 5:15 PM 

To: Laity, Jim; Billingsley, Tara; Bauserman, Trent; McConville, Drew; Johnson, Katie B.; Menter, Jessica; Neill, Allie; 
Dorjets, VI ad; Goldfuss, Christina; Costa, Kristina 

Cc: Mancini, Dominic J. 
Subject: RE: Advocacy testifying on WOTUS 

Thanks Jim, that is absolutely right. 

From: Laity, Jim 
Sent: Wednesday, April 29, 2015 5:08 PM 
To: Billingsley, Tara; Bauserman, Trent; Shelanski, Howard; McConville, Drew; Johnson, Katie B.; Menter, Jessica; Neill, 

Allie; Dorjets, Vlad; Goldfuss, Christina; Costa, Kristin a 
Cc: Mancini, Dominic J. 
Subject: RE: Advocacy testifying on WOTUS 

Plus Dom 

As you all probably know, SBA Advocacy is statutorily independent and there is no EOP prior review of their 

testimony. So it is very important to have a clear understanding wit h Claudia up front on Howard's point below (nothing 
about either the content or process of interagency review). SBA has always been a team player in interagency review 
and I'm sure they will agree to this, but It's good to remind them up front. 

From: Billingsley, Tara 

Sent: Wednesday, April 29, 2015 5:01 PM 
To: Bauserman, Trent; Shelanski, Howard; McConville, Drew; Johnson, Katie B.; Menter, Jessica; Neill, Allie; Dorjets, 
Vlad; Laity, Jim; Goldfuss, Christina; Costa, Kristina 

Subject: RE: Advocacy testifying on WOTUS 

I would assume so; Sens. Cantwell and Risch (then Chair and RM on SBC) sent a joint letter on that last year. 

From: Bauserman, Trent 
Sent: Wednesday, April 29, 2015 4:57 PM 
To: Shelanski, Howard; McConville, Drew; Johnson, Katie B.; Mente r, Jessica; Neill, Allie; Dorjets, VI ad; Laity, Jim; 

Goldfuss, Christina; Costa, Kristina; Billingsley, Tara 
Subject: RE: Advocacy testifying on WOTUS 

+ Tara 
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From: Shelanski, Howard 

Sent: Wednesday, April 29,20154:52 PM 
To: McConvi lle, Drew; Johnson, Katie B.; Menter, Jessica; Neil l, Allie; Dorjets, Vlad; Laity, Jim; Goldfuss, Christina; 

Bauserman, Trent; Costa, Krist ina 
Subject: RE: Advocacy t est ifying on WOTUS 

My sense is that they shou ld not be t estifying about any of the rule's substance, on groun ds that it is not final and may 
change during review. But I don't see any reason they cannot be asked about the process and SBA's views on it. I assume 

the committee is going after the lack of a SBREFA panel here. 

From: McConville, Drew 
Sent : Wednesday, April 29,2015 4:48 PM 

To: Johnson, Katie B. ; Menter, Jessica; Neil l, Allie; Shelanski, Howard; Dorjets, VI ad; Laity, Jim; Goldfuss, Christina; 
Bauserman, Trent; Costa, Kristina 

Subject: Re: Advocacy t estifying on WOTUS 

Thanks. Wou ld they typical ly parti cipate in a hearing on a rule currently under oira and sba's review? 

+ Trent and Kristina. 

From: Johnson, Katie B. 
Sent: Wednesday, April 29, 2015 04:42 PM 
To: Menter, Jessica; Neill, Allie; McConville, Drew; Shelanski, Howard; Dorjets, Vlad; Laity, Jim; Goldfuss, Christina 
Subject: PN: Advocacy testifying on WOTUS 

FYI 

From: Rodgers, Claudia [ J 

Sent: Wednesday, April 29,20153:55 PM 

To: Blakemore, Emily; Johnson, Katie B.; Orris, All ison; Cobbina, Awenate; Seidman, David 
Cc: Kelley, Patrick; Landweber, Michael I.; Inge, Thaddeus; Maduros, Nicolas T. 
Subject: Advocacy testifying on WOTUS 

FYI - We have been asked to testify at a WOTUS hear ing on May 13 th before the Senate Small 

Business committee. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Laity, Jim 

Thursday, May 14, 2015 6:32 PM 
Thomas, Amanda; Dorjets, Vlad 
RE: Revised Rule/Preamble and Economic Analysis 

Amanda, These are good issues but I think it unlikely we will make progress on either of them. I can give you more 
background later, but we essentially accepted both at proposal and they will likely argue that it is reopening old battles if 
we raise now. 

From: Thomas, Amanda 
Sent: Thursday, May 14, 2015 6:16 PM 
To: Dorjets, Vlad 
Cc: Laity, Jim 
Subject: RE: Revised Rule/Preamble and Economic Analysis 

Vlad, I have two main concerns: 

1) The RIA uses the term "indirect cost" inappropriately. In the parlance of RIAs, indirect costs mean costs that are 
borne by those who are not regulated. The affected entities identified in the RIA are regulated entities. The 
correct terminology should be "costs that flow from changes in scope of the regulati on," not "indirect" costs. 
understand that this is a contentious issue and I'm happy to be flexible about how to describe the costs, but I 
recommend that we don't be technically incorrect. 

2) I recommend that the benefits estimated using the benefi t transfer technique be "illustrative" rather than main 
estimates to be included in the executive summary. The extrapolation of the study results is very questionable, 
thereby not meet the requirements specified in the A4 regarding the use of benefit tran sfer technique. So I 
would recommend that (a) the benefit transfer benefits be deleted from the executive summary tables and be 
only discussed as illustrative; (b) the Section 9 discussion of the benefit transfer estimates have prominent 
"illustrative" caveats sprinkled throughout. 

I will be in the office until Monday and I'm out of the office until the move date. So, please let me know what the next 
steps are. Thanks! 

Amanda 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Wednesday, May 13, 2015 6:59 PM 
To: Thomas, Amand a 
Subject: FW: Revised Rule/Preamble and Economic Analysis 
Importance: High 

Here is the WOTUS pass back. I can only imagine how busy you must be but this is working on an extremely tight 
schedule as we need to conclude a week from today. If we have any sho t of resolving open items I need to know about 
them by Friday so that I can raise them with EPA and the Corps on Friday afternoon. Could you please take a look a look 
at this and let me know if you have any comments by end of day tomorrow? Please note that a number of agencies had 
numerous comments on the economic analysis so, in addition to your thought son how the agencies responded to your 
comments, it would be very helpful to get your thoughts on other responses too to help me decide whether any of them 
warrant elevation. Thanks! 
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From: 

Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Thanks. Frustrating. 

Sent using BlackBerry 

----- Original Message ----­
From: Laity, Jim 

Mancini, Dominic J. 
Thursday, May 14, 2015 6:51 PM 

Laity, Jim 
Re: Wotus 

Sent: Thursday, May 14, 2015 06:37 PM Eastern Standard Time 
To: Mancini, Dominic J. 
Subject: RE: Wotus 

Our original idea was to say that any waters in the flood plain out to 4000 feet are jurisdictional by rule (technically, 
"adjacent") and all other waters more than 100 feet away from jurisdictional waters are out -- no case by case. 

What they have done instead (and I think this goes in the wrong direction) is to say that all waters out to 100 feet, and in 
flood plain out to 1500 feet, are jurisdictional, and all others out to 4000 subject to case -by-case determination. Plus 
now, they are saying that even beyond 4000 feet is subject to case -by-case if it is in the flood plain. Around large rivers, 
this will significantly expand the scope for case -by-case, while we would like to narrow it. 

-----Original Message----­
From: Mancini, Dominic J. 
Sent: ThurSday, May 14, 201S 10:02 AM 
To: La ity, Jim 
Subject: Wotus 

What was our original idea about how to make the line brighter? Vlad was telling me about the change. 

Sent using BlackBerry 
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From: 

Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Dorjets, Vlad 
Friday, May 15, 2015 12:00 PM 

Laity, Jim 
WOTUSCRA 

Greg is now proposing to say the rule is major but that all costs are indirect. I don't see us reopening that battle of 
whether costs are direct or not so this seem acceptable. Do you agree? 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

McConville, Drew 
Tuesday, April 28, 2015 9:16 PM 
Johnson, Katie B.; Mallory, Brenda; Goldfuss, Christina 

Re: SBA Advocacy's Position on WOTUS 

The good news just keeps on coming with this one! 

From: Johnson, Katie B. 
Sent: Tuesday, April 28, 2015 06:27 PM 
To: Mallory, Brenda; Goldfuss, Christina; McConville, Drew 
Subject: FW: SBA Advocacy's Position on WOTUS 

FYI 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Tuesday, April 28, 2015 6:25 PM 
To: Shelanski, Howard 
Cc: Johnson, Katie B.; Mancini, DominicJ.; Laity, Jim 
Subject: SBA Advocacy's Position on WOTUS 

Howard, 

I spoke with Kia Dennis from SBA Advocacy this morning about WOTUS and wanted to give you a heads up about her 
Agency's position. As you may know, the rule certifies that there will not be a significant economic impact on a 
substantial number of small entities due to the fact that it is only a definitional change and that all costs are thereby 
indirect. SBA feels very strongly that allowing agencies to claim that such rules have no direct impact will set a 
dangerous precedent and undermine the Regulatory Flexibility Act. She has thus indicated to me at a staff level that her 
Agency would "almost certainly" file an amicus brief if/when the rule is challenged in court. 

Kia understands that it unlikely that EPA and Corps would revisit the entire economic underpinning of the rule at such a 
late stage (she thinks this matter will, instead, get det ermined by the courts). That being said, I think you should know of 
her Agency's position. 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Vlad 
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From: 

Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Laity, Jim 
Wednesday, April 29, 2015 11:02 AM 
Dorjets, Vlad; Mancini, Dominic J.; Shelanski, Howard 

Johnson, Katie B. 
RE: SBA Advocacy's Position on WOTUS 

While I have some concerns about certifying this rule, and not doing a SBREFA panel, OIRA agreed not to challenge EPA 
on this at the proposed stage. Our main reason for going along is that it is hard to see what value added a SBREFA panel 
would have. It is very difficult to determine what small entit ies wi ll be affected, and whether any such effects wou ld be 
"signi fi cant." The rule is based on legal and scientific interpretation, not cost -benefit analysis. EPA did do a "SBREFA­
like" outreach to small ent ities and the comments received were not very useful. 

As VI ad notes, the preamble language in the proposal describing their basis for certification was carefully negotiated; it 
seems reasonable that they stick to the same language here. SBA will make their own decisions about what to do after 
the rule is published. 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Wednesday, April 29,20158:58 AM 
To: Mancini, Dominic J.; Shelanski, Howard 
Cc: Johnson, Katie B.; Laity, Jim 
Subject: RE: SBA Advocacy's Position on WOTUS 

The final rule had the same language as the proposed rule which I understand was the result of extensive discussion. The 
language says that that fewer waters will be subject to the CWA under the rule than are subject to it under current 
regulation and thus there will not be any adverse economic impact on small businesses. The language goes on to say 
that the rule is not designed to "subject" any entities of any size to specific regulatory burden - rather it is clarifying a 
definition - so all costs are indi rect. 

I find the lanugage dubious at best but realize the ship may have sailed. Specifically, per Circular A-4, the baseline 
should be current practices in place following the SCOTUS cases and not current regulations. Moreover, the Economic 
Analysis confirms that there there will be an approximate 4.65% increase in positive JDs annually to to the new rule 
when compraed to the current field practice. I'm also inclined to think that the impact on JDs and subsequent permitting 
costs are, in fact, a direct result of the rule and should thus be accounted for but also recognize that it would be very 
difficult to quantity those costs and benefits. 

From: Mancini, DominicJ. 
Sent: Tuesday, April 28, 2015 11:19 PM 
To: Dorjets, VI ad; Shelanski, Howard 
Cc: Johnson, Katie B.; Laity, Jim 
Subject: Re: SBA Advocacy's Position on WOTUS 

Thanks Vlad. Case law is ambiguous on this point, and we have talked a lot about this issue. What did EPA say in the 
proposed rule? 
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Sent using BlackBerry 

From: Dorjets, Vlad 
Sent: Tuesday, April 28, 2015 06:25 PM Eastern Standard Time 
To: Shelanski, Howard 
Cc: Johnson, Katie B.; Mancini, Dominic J.; Laity, Jim 
Subject: SBA Advocacy's Position on WOTUS 

Howard, 

I spoke with Kia Dennis from SBA Advoc acy this morning about WOTUS and wanted to give you a heads up about her 
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
late stage (she thinks this matter will, instead, get determined by the courts). That being said, I think you should know of 
her Agency's position. 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

VI ad 

('. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Thomas, Amanda 

Tuesday, May OS, 2015 6:59 PM 
Dorjets, VI ad 
Laity, Jim 
RE: Clean Water Rule (WOTUS) Economic Analysis 
Draft Final Clean Water Rule Economic Analysis (2).docx 

VI ad, please find attached my comments on the economic analysis. Most are minor comments, but I'm not sure I would 
agree with EPA's approach to benefit transfer of benefits. The studies examine wetlands in specific areas of the country; 
the regions are: Iowa, Western Kentucky, South Carolina, South Dakota, California, Wisconsin, Nebraska, and 
Minnesota. Trying to extrapolate the regional/state specific results to nationally might be a stretch (since I wrote that 
part of the Circular A4, I should know). 

Going forward, we can try: 
1) Hear EPA out and see if we come to a conclusion that what they did is reasonable (if we have time); and 
2) Ask EPA to move the wetlands mitigation benefits to a sensitivity case or elevate to Howard about make this 

section of benefits analysis a sensitivity case or remove the quantified estimates. I suspect that EPA will push 
back since this benefit category is the bulk of the benefits. 

I think I can live with the rest of the analysis. 

Thanks, 
Amanda 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Tuesday, May OS, 2015 5:44 PM 
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

Colleagues - The pressure is getting kicked up on this rule and I have been asked to do whatever I can to get comments 
on the RIA back to EPA by the end of the week. If there is any way you can get me your comments on the RIA by noon on 
Friday I would really appreciate it. Sorry for the inconvenience. 

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

Attached for your review is the Economic Analysis (EA) related to the draft final Clean Water Rule / WOTUS. PI ease send 
me comments by Monday, May 11th. 
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
Wednesday, May 13, 2015 7:21 PM 
Dorjets, Vlad; Johnson, Katie B.; Tarquinio, Ellen; Renshaw, Katie 

Mallory, Brenda 
RE: quick implementation flag RE clean waters 

VI ad, can you give me a quick call to discuss? I understand the need for guidance on implementation early, but 
wondering a little more speci fica lly about the 60 -day window Ali's talking about. 

From: Dorjets, VI ad 
Sent: Wednesday, May 13, 2015 11:42 AM 
To: McConville, Drew; Johnson, Katie B.; Tarquinio, Ellen; Renshaw, Katie 
Cc: Mallory, Brenda 
Subject: RE: quick implementation flag RE clean waters 

The rule estimates a minimal increase in jurisdicational determinations. However, a number of stakeholders have 
expressed concern that the impacts are underestimated. OMB shares the concern and included questions about that 
very issue in comments we submitted to the Agencies. I also included questions/comments relating to the 
grandfathering of existing permits and the treatment of permits currently under review. My plan was to wait until I saw 
passback (which should be provided today or tomorrow) and decide at that point how to proceed. 

To Ali 's point though, I think that proper guidance will be critical to proper rollout and implementation as we have heard 
a number of implementation -related concerns from stakeholders. EPA has informed me that they hope to have the 
guidance ready a month or two after the rule is issued. They will need to submit a singnifican ce determination at that 
time (or prior to then if they so choose) and, unless they make a very compelling case to the contrary, I am incl ined to 
bring it in for formal review so that OMB can soli cit comment from interagency reviewers and stakeholders. 

As an aside, we have heard complaints from cities and states about a lack of consultation prior to the proposed rule 
being issued and a lack of coordination and outreach since then. In fact, the National League of Cities went so far as to 
say that they do not trust EPA and the Corps on this rulemaking and have requested that the rule be withdrawn so that 
they can have an opportunity to review it and provide comment. This sentiment was echoed by the US Conference of 
Mayors and the National Association of Count ies. I realize that this may just be political posturing but, but the agencies 
may be able to use the guidance document as an opportunity for additional outreach. 

Kat ie and Ellen have partiCipated in the stakeholder meetings also so may have some insight into this. 

From: McConville, Drew 
Sent: Wednesday, May 13, 2015 10:56 AM 
To: Johnson, Katie B.; Tarquinio, Ellen; Renshaw, Katie 
Cc: Mallory, Brenda; Dorjets, VI ad 
Subject: RE: quick implementation flag RE clean waters 
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Thanks. Would be great to learn a little more about it soon since it's gotten bumped up so high. VI ad, is there anyth ing 
you can share over email or worth someone on our team connecting with you by phone? 

+ Ellen and Katie 

From: Johnson, Katie B. 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 8:18 PM 
To: McConville, Drew 
Cc: Mal lory, Brenda; Dorjets, Vlad 
Subject: RE : quick implementation flag RE clean waters 

I am adding Vlad who knew this was an issue but dint ' think it was worth elevating as part of the review process. 

From: McConville, Drew 
Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 1:37 PM 
To: Johnson, Katie B. 
Cc: Mallory, Brenda 
Subject: RE : quick implementation flag RE clean waters 

Thanks Katie. Odd the way this is being elevated ... Has this come up in the interagency review process? Does your 
team have a view on it? 

From: Johnson, Katie B. 
Sent: Tu esday, May 12, 2015 9:51 AM 
To: Mallory, Brenda; McConville, Drew 
Subject: FW: quick implementation flag RE clean waters 

Wanted to make su re that Ali had raised this w ith you al l as well on the WOTUS issue. 

From: Orris, Allison 
Sent : Monday, May 11, 2015 11:57 PM 
To: Johnson, Katie B. 
Subject: FW: quick implementation flag RE clean waters 

From: Za idi, Ali 
Sent: Monday, May 11, 2015 11:55 PM 
To: Donovan,Shaun 
Cc: Aviel, Sara; Aron-Dine, Aviva; Kefalas, loanna; Shelanski, Howard; Colyar, Kelly T.; Hickey, Mike; Mancini, Dominic J. ; 
Orris, Allison; DL-OMB-NRP Senior Staff 
Subject: quick implementation flag RE clean waters 

5haun, 

I wanted to flag a potential Clean Waters implementat ion issue that the Water and Power Branch is tracking/trying to 
address but that you should be aware of. 

As we get more resolution, we w ill keep you posted. For now, FYSA onlv. [Note, we' re also flagging for CE 
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-, 

Thanks. 

"50-day land rush" after the rule is finalized 

Issue: The Army Corps has expressed some concern about a flurry of activity before the final Clean Water Rule is 
published and during the 60 days between when the rule is published and when it takes effect. This follows from the 
potential that more waters will be jurisdictional under the final rule than under current practice and guidance. Folks in 
areas that are currently not jurisdictional but would become jurisdictional could precipitate a mad dash of applications 
for jurisdictional determinations, permit applications, and unpermitted fill activities. Thi s could create a back log of 
applications and cause delays in the jurisdictional determination/ permitting process. 

Status: OMB has raised this issue with Jo -Ellen and team, and they have indicated they will provide an update early this 
week regarding the status of plans for implementing the rule, issuing guidance to the field, and preparation for an 
increase in applications received . Army and the Corps have had little tim e to work on rollout and implementation 
planning due to considerable work revising and finalizing the rule to meet the planned publication date. A large influx of 
applications may slow down the process, but not result in complete failures. OMB has been developing a list of 
questions regarding grandfathering scenarios that should be answered in implementation guidance, and OIRA has 
requested to review the Corps implementation guidance before it is issued. 
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